

Department of Arctic and Marine Biology

Isolation and Characterization of Bacteriophages from the Arctic

Md Sabuj Hosen BIO-3950 Master's thesis in Biology, May 2023



Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to Allah for His blessings and guidance throughout this journey. His infinite wisdom and grace have been my constant source of strength, and I am grateful for His unwavering presence in my life.

Also, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Gabriel Magno De Freitas Almeida for his invaluable guidance, support, and encouragement throughout my MSc program. His insightful feedback and expertise in the field have been instrumental in shaping the direction of my research. His genuine scientific temperament makes him an endless fount of concepts and enthusiasm in science that incredibly stimulates and enhances my development as a student, researcher, and aspiring scientist. My appreciation for him goes beyond what he comprehends. At last, I would like to thank him for introducing me to this amazing research area.

I would also like to thank my co-supervisor, Professor Klara Stensvåg and Ataur Rahman, for their insightful comments, suggestions, and constructive criticism that has contributed to refining my research and writing skills.

My deepest gratitude goes to my parents, Md Harun Molla and Mst Mazeda Khatun for their unconditional support, love, and encouragement. Their sacrifices and belief in me have been instrumental in my academic success.

I would also like to acknowledge my wife Shamsunnahar for her continuous support and understanding during the ups and downs of this journey. Her words of encouragement, love, laughter, and companionship have been a source of inspiration and motivation for me.

Lastly, I would like to express my appreciation to the Marine Bioprospecting Lab and the research group members for providing me with the opportunity and support for my thesis. Without their generous support, this project would not have been possible.

Once again, thank you to everyone who has played a part in my academic journey. I am grateful for your support, guidance, and encouragement, and I will carry the lessons and experiences gained from this journey with me throughout my life.

Abstract

Bacteriophages are viruses that specifically infect bacteria. These obligate intracellular parasites are Earth's most copious, ubiquitous, and genetically diverse (unexplored) biological entities. Organisms in the Arctic environment constantly experience extreme conditions, therefore life in the Arctic evolved different specialized strategies and molecules to survive which offers huge opportunities to prospect for novel bioactive compounds and potential industrial applications or products for different purposes. In the Arctic, biological resources are little studied, and we know just a little bit of them. This study aims to isolate and characterize various phages from the Arctic Sea and sewage samples collected from wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) in Tromsø, Norway (Arctic). Host bacteria used were isolated from the Arctic Sea and belong to the following genera: Vibrio (2 strains), Flavobacterium, Shewanella, and Maribacter, while Escherichia coli K12 (laboratory strain) was used for isolating phages from sewage samples. Marine bacteria were cultured at 4°C whereas E. coli was cultivated at 37°C. Phage isolation was made by preparation of enrichment cultures and plating using the double agar layer (DAL) method. Morphological characterization was performed using negatively stained transmission electron microscopy (TEM). This study found that while marine phages were present in the samples, but they were challenging to grow and further characterize. Based on plaque assay, phages were found in three marine Arctic hosts (none in Shewanella). However, five coliphages were successfully isolated and purified from the sewage samples, and their titer was determined. The highest titer was estimated at 8×10^{10} pfu/ml for phage Ec42_SH23 followed by the lowest 2×10^{10} in Ec41_SH23 phage. The TEM analysis revealed that the isolated phages belonged to the caudovirus group, which is known for its long, short, and contractile or non-contractile tails according to the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV). Moreover, the phage genome was extracted from the isolated coliphages, although it has not been sequenced yet. These findings suggest that the Arctic may be a potential source of novel phages with unique features.

Keywords: Arctic Bacteriophage, Marine Bacteria, Sewage, TEM, Caudovirus

Abbreviations

DAL	Double agar layer
GTA	Gene transfer agents
ICTV	International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses
ITS	Internal transcribed spacer
LB	Lysogeny broth
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PFU	Plaque-forming units
RBP	Receptor-binding proteins
TEM	Transmission electron microscope
VBR	Virus-to-bacteria
VLP	Virus-like particles
WWTP	Waste-water treatment plants

Table of Contents

1	IN	INTRODUCTION1				
	1.1	Background of the Study	1			
	1.2	History of Bacteriophage Discovery	2			
	1.3	Abundance and Distribution of the Marine Virus	3			
	1.4	Phenotypic Traits of Marine Phages	5			
	1.5	Diversity of Marine Viral Genome	7			
	1.5	5.1 Whole Genome Comparison	7			
	1.5	5.2 Metagenomic Analysis	9			
	1.6	Phage Life Cycle 1	0			
	1.6	<i>Choosing a Life of Productivity</i> 1	1			
	1.6	5.2 Effect of Lytic Conversion1	3			
	1.6	5.3 Lysogeny1	4			
	1.6	5.4 Pseudolysogeny1	6			
	1.7	Phages in the Arctic 1	7			
	1.8	Molecular Studies of Marine Bacteriophages2	1			
	1.9	Phages from Sewage	2			
	1.10	Scope and Significance of the Study2	5			
2	AI	M2	7			
3	BA	ACKGROUND AND PRINCIPLES OF METHODS2	8			
	3.1	Phage Isolation	9			
	3.2	Phage Characterization	9			
	3.3	Genomic DNA Isolation and Sequencing	9			
4	MA	ATERIALS AND METHODS3	1			
	4.1	Sample Collection and Preparation	1			
	4.2	Bacterial Strains and Culture Preparations (Host)	2			
		Page	v			

	4.	3	Bac	cterial Behaviour Test in Double-Layer Agar Plates	. 33
	4.4	4	Pha	ge Isolation	. 34
		4.4.	1	Preparation of Enrichment Culture	. 34
		4.4.	.2	Screening the Enrichment Cultures for Phages	. 35
		4.4.	.3	Plaque Purification	. 35
		4.4.	.4	Preparation of Phage Stocks	. 36
		4.4.	.5	Phage Titration	.36
	4.:	5	Pha	ge Genomic DNA Isolation	. 37
	4.0	б	Pha	ge DNA Quantification and Restriction Digestion	. 37
	4.′	7	Tra	nsmission Electron Microscopy	. 38
5		RE	SUL	LTS	. 40
	5.	1	Cul	tures of the Arctic Marine Host Bacteria	.40
	5.2	2	Isol	ated Phages and Screened Enriched Cultures	.41
	5.3	3	Pha	ge Growth and Plaque Purification	.42
	5.4	4	Pha	ge Titer	.45
	5.:	5	Pha	ge Genomic DNA and Restriction Profiles	.46
	5.0	6	Mo	rphological Characteristics	.47
6		DIS	SCU	SSION	. 48
	6.	1	Isol	ation and Purification of Arctic Marine Phages	. 48
	6.2	2	Isol	ation and Purification of Coliphages from Sewage	. 50
	6.3	3	Cha	aracterization Using TEM	. 52
7		FU	TUF	RE PERSPECTIVE	. 54
8		CO	NC	LUSIONS	. 56
9		RE	FEF	RENCES	. 58
1	0	AP	PEN	NDIX	.71

List of Tables

Table 1: Source of collected samples for phage isolation.	32
Table 2:Host bacteria and their characteristics features for the isolation of phages	33
Table 3: Components used for enrichment culture preparation.	35
Table 4: Chemical components and the volumes used in phage genome digestion	38
Table 5: Qubit fluorophore measurements of extracted phage DNA	46
Table 6: Reagents used in the preparation of FMAP media.	71

List of Figures

Figure 1: Illustrative frameworks of the tailed phages
Figure 2: Several types of phage life cycles
Figure 3: The flowchart provides an overview of the methodology for phage isolation and
characterization
Figure 4: Sign indicating the sampling site for samples 53-58
Figure 5: Double agar-layer (DAL) preparation
Figure 6: Marine bacterial cultures on FMAP media plates40
Figure 7: Presence of phages from the screening of enrichment culture
Figure 8: Phage purification outcome of Ec41_SH23, the process shown at three different
passage stages
Figure 9: Phage purification outcome of Ec43_SH23, the process shown at three different
passage stages
Figure 10: Phage purification outcome of Ec45_SH23, the process shown at three different
passage stages
Figure 11: Three different plaque morphotypes are shown in the plate containing Ec42_SH23
phages in the passage 1 purification process
Figure 12: Uniform plaque morphotype of Ec42_SH23 phage in passage 2 purification
process
Figure 13: Uniform plaque morphotype of Ec42_SH23 phage in passage 3 purification
process
Figure 14: Visualizing phage stock titration: correlating plaque formation with phage
concentration at different dilutions
Figure 15: Restriction profiles of BamHI digested coliphage nucleic acid

Figure 16: TEM of phage Ec41_SH23 with negatively stained 1% uranyl acetate47
Figure 17: TEM image of phage A) Ec44_SH23 and B) FL54_SH22 with negatively stained
1% uranyl acetate

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

The Arctic is a unique ecosystem characterized by extremely cold temperatures, low nutrient availability, and prolonged periods of darkness, making it a challenging environment for life to thrive. Despite these challenges, the Arctic Ocean is home to a diverse array of microorganisms, including bacteria and viruses. All are adapted to this extreme environment. A virus is a biological entity composed of either double or single-stranded DNA or RNA enclosed by proteins and, in some cases, lipids. Viruses can infect all types of living cells, which make them the most copious biological agents in the biosphere. They play an important role in microbial food webs dynamics in a wide range of environments, including many extreme environments. Despite their ubiquity, in the last century, most of the viral-based bioprospection was mainly focused on viruses that cause disease in metazoans. In addition to controlling the climate, half of the earth's oxygen and a significant portion of the protein consumed globally are originated from marine microbes. Microorganisms are the predominant regulators of energy and nutrient cycles in the vast majority of the Earth's oceans and contribute over 90% of the total living biomass in the marine environment. (Suttle, 2007). Due to their extremely small size, viruses only represent about 5% of the global microbial biomass, which is a small proportion of the total prokaryotic biomass (Bar-On & Milo, 2019). The amount of biomass that is killed by viruses each day is estimated to be around 20%-40% (Suttle, 2007). Furthermore, viruses are considered one of the world's largest unexplored reservoirs of genetic diversity (Suttle, 2007). Every millilitre of ocean water contains millions of virus-like particles (VLPs) (Bergh et al., 1989), and viruses are significant agents of mortality in heterotrophic and autotrophic plankton (Proctor & Fuhrman, 1990; Suttle et al., 1990). These findings have prompted a major awareness of the enormous underestimation of the effects of viral infection on microbial species. Microbial communities as well as nutrient and energy cycles are also affected by viruses (Breitbart et al., 2018), which are major players in marine microbial diversity.

Observations using transmission electron microscopy (TEM) have indicated that most viruses present in aquatic environments are bacteriophages, commonly referred to as phages. These phages typically exhibit capsid diameters that are less than 250 nm. Bacteriophages are the most abundant biological entities on Earth and can be found in almost every environment

that contains bacteria, including soil, water, and the human body, which plays a crucial role in the ecology and evolution of bacteria. They can influence nutrient cycling, genetic exchange, and bacterial population dynamics. Arctic phages are of particular interest due to their potential for biotechnological and therapeutic applications. However, compared to phages from other environments, Arctic phages remain largely understudied. Thus, there is a need to isolate and characterize new Arctic phages to better understand their diversity, host range, and functional properties. It may also lead to the discovery of new phage-based therapies and biotechnological applications.

This chapter highlights the abundance and distribution of phages, exploring both their phenotypic and genomic characteristics. It seeks to clarify the diverse life cycles of phages and their potential impacts on their host organisms. Additionally, the chapter provides an overview of research into the prevalence of bacteriophages in the Arctic and molecular investigations into phages found in oceans. Furthermore, this chapter delves into the significance of studies conducted on phages found in sewage and their potential implications. Finally, the chapter concludes by emphasizing the significance of the study and its potential contributions to the broader understanding of phages and their role in various ecosystems.

1.2 History of Bacteriophage Discovery

Bacteriophages, also known as phages, are viruses that specifically infect and replicate within bacteria. Similarly, to other viruses, they are not endowed with any intrinsic metabolic mechanism and all their activities requiring energy depend on their host cells' intracellular machinery. Through mutualistic symbioses, viruses can also establish long-term relationships with their specific hosts, which may increase their fitness or provide competitive advantages to them (Roossinck, 2011). In the case of phages, these symbiotic interactions are common and happen through lysogenic cycles.

The discovery of bacteriophages dates to the early 20th century when researchers were investigating the nature of infectious agents that could cause bacterial lysis. The history of bacteriophage discovery has been the subject of debate, but in 1896, the British bacteriologist Ernest Hankin reported that the waters of the Ganges and Jumna rivers in India had antibacterial action against *Vibrio cholerae* and that ingestion of the water prevented the spread of cholera epidemics. Hankin suggested that an unidentified substance was responsible

for this phenomenon, which was heat-labile and could pass through fine porcelain filters. Russian bacteriologist Gamaleya made a similar observation two years later while working with *Bacillus subtilis* (Deresinski, 2009). However, none of these investigators further explored their findings until Frederick Twort, a British pathologist, and Felix d'Herelle, a French-Canadian bacteriologist at the Pasteur Institute in Paris, independently reported isolating filterable entities that could destroy bacterial cultures and produce small clear areas on bacterial lawns in 1915 and 1917, respectively. D'Herelle coined the term "bacteriophages" to describe these entities. Over the next few decades, D'Hérelle and other researchers continued to study bacteriophages and their properties. They discovered that phages had specific host ranges and could only infect certain strains or species of bacteria. They also found that phages had different morphologies, with some having tails and others having icosahedral or filamentous shapes.

Moreover, the clinical use of phages against bacterial diseases (phage therapy), was developed by D'Herelle and used as a routine in many countries from the 1920s to the 1940s. After World War II, with the widespread use of antibiotics in the latter half of the 20th century, interest in phages declined in Western countries but phage therapy was kept alive in the Soviet Union and Poland (de Freitas Almeida & Sundberg, 2020). In recent years, however, there has been renewed interest in the use of bacteriophages as an alternative therapy to antibiotics due to the rise of antibiotic-resistant bacteria (Gordillo Altamirano & Barr, 2019; Jault et al., 2019; Watts, 2017)

1.3 Abundance and Distribution of the Marine Virus

Phages have been observed in the ocean for more than sixty years (Wommack & Colwell, 2000) but their high abundance has only been recognized recently (Suttle, 2005; Weinbauer, 2004). Even though convincing evidence existed in the late 1970s that viruses abound in the sea (Torrella & Morita, 1979), a decade later quantitative estimates revealed that seawater contains millions of viruses per millilitre (Bergh et al., 1989). The first estimates of virus abundances were based primarily on electron microscopy analysis of concentrated seawater samples. Although these studies found that the particles appeared virus-like and abundant, their estimates were inconsistent and unreliable due to sample preparation artifacts and biases. In addition to this, coupled with the high costs and time required for electron microscopy studies, there have been efforts to develop epifluorescence microscopy (Hara et

al., 1991; Hennes & Suttle, 1995; Noble & Fuhrman, 1998; Suttle et al., 1990) that are more accurate, and high-throughput. Although methodological errors have caused significant underestimates in many cases (Suttle, 2005; Wen et al., 2004), these methods are widely used by scientists and have generally resulted in reproducible abundance estimation. Recent estimates of the deep ocean, for example, differ by an order of magnitude from those taken a few years ago (Ortmann & Suttle, 2005; Parada et al., 2007). As far as the estimates of viral abundance in the water column are concerned, there is a proficient level of agreement and a high degree of confidence when proper procedures are followed. The estimation of the viral abundance in marine sediments remains difficult despite the presence of high numbers of viruses (Danovaro et al., 2001; Helton et al., 2006).

There are around 10-15-fold more viruses than bacteria and archaea in nature (Whitman et al., 1998). A total viral abundance varies along with the abundance and productivity of prokaryotic organisms and the environmental conditions in any given environment. Thus, in the oceans, as the water column goes deeper and further offshore, virus abundance decreases. When specific groups of infectious viruses (Cyanophages) were studied and their titers determined, similar patterns were observed (Suttle & Chan, 1994; Waterbury & Valois, 1993). This trend can be seen from the ratio between viral particles and prokaryotic or bacterial cells that shows the presence of these viruses. In different marine environments, however, there has been a considerable change in the relationship between viral abundance and prokaryotic abundance, as well as in the level of prokaryotic growth. For instance, the average virus to bacteria ratio (VBR) of the surface waters of the Pacific Ocean and the Arctic Ocean is approximately 40 and 10 respectively, while the average VBR of lakes is less than 5 (Clasen et al., 2008). In contrast, the ratio often exceeds 100 in the deep waters of the Atlantic Ocean (Parada et al., 2007). The pattern is large-scale in nature and tends to be influenced by different environmental conditions, but in the end, viral production is influenced by microbial hotspots on the cellular scale and the spatial scale of individual cells. In aquatic environments, the order-of-magnitude variations in viral abundance and VBRs that occur on spatial scales of centimeters in aquatic environments are evidence of this fact (Seymour et al., 2006).

With the help of flow cytometry, a better understanding of the distributions and abundances of viruses can be found in the sea, as it is a high-throughput method of counting viruses. Even though viruses are too small to scatter light predictably, it enables us to count them by fluorescent staining of nucleic acids. The characteristics of fluorescence and scatter allow the discrimination of subpopulations of viruses and potential hosts. Despite limited data, it has been demonstrated that the most abundant subpopulation of viruses in the Arctic Ocean biome was associated with low fluorescence and high nucleic-acid content heterotrophic prokaryotes (Suttle, 2007). This sub-group of prokaryotes has been argued to be one of the most active members of the prokaryotic community (Lebaron et al., 2001; Longnecker et al., 2006), however, some have questioned this interpretation (Moran, 2007; Sherr, 2006). The phycodnaviruses which infect eukaryotic phytoplankton, exhibit higher fluorescence and scatter than other viruses. Chlorophyll a concentration, which indicates the abundance of photosynthetic cells, is most closely related to viruses with these characteristics (Suttle, 2007). Viral infections, however, may have an impact on microbial diversity, nutrient cycling (Cram et al., 2016; Rodriguez-Brito et al., 2010; Weinbauer & Rassoulzadegan, 2004), and potentially, the efficiency at which carbon is transported from surface waters to deep waters if they preferentially infect cells that are growing more rapidly (Vincent & Vardi, 2023).

1.4 Phenotypic Traits of Marine Phages

Observations of VLP via transmission electron microscopy (TEM) provided the first indication of the global diversity of viruses. A limited number of viral phenotypes have been detected in aquatic samples, primarily comprising tailed or untailed particles bearing capsid heads; this type of particle is characteristic of phages (Sime-Ngando, 2014). Several different types of phages live in aquatic systems, among which are tail phages belonging to the caudovirus group, which are members of the double-stranded DNA virus family and make up 10-40% of the total virus population (Sime-Ngando & Colombet, 2009; Wommack & Colwell, 2000). There are three caudovirus families (Figure 1) which dominant quantitatively: Siphoviruses, which have a long, non-contractile tail (e.g., Phage lambda), Podoviruses, with characteristics of the short, non-contractile tail (e.g., Phage T7), and Myoviruses, which have a contractile tail of variable length (e.g., Phage T4) (Sime-Ngando, 2014). Tailed phages are characterized by the presence of protective capsids attached to the tail. Unlike other tailed phages, myoviruses possess a contractile tail sheath. at the distal end of the tail, both myoviruses and siphoviruses possess a baseplate that contains receptorbinding proteins (RBPs), including tail spikes and fibers. However, in podoviruses, the RBPs directly attach to the tail due to the absence of a baseplate. Furthermore, siphoviruses and Page | 5

podoviruses differ from myoviruses by having a central tail fiber or spike on the distal end of their tails or bases.



Figure 1: Illustrative frameworks of the tailed phages A) Myovirus; B) Siphovirus and C) Podovirus. The figure is adapted from Nobrega et al. (2018)

Virus abundance is dominated by non-tailed capsids in most studies. The most likely reason for this is the effect of the mechanic shock resulting from the handling, mostly ultracentrifugation (Colombet et al., 2007) because 96% of the 5500 bacteriophages described in this study were tailed particles (Ackermann, 2007). An analysis of the global morphology of marine viruses conducted recently has suggested that non-tailed viruses, which accounted for 50-90% of the viral particles observed, might be the most ecologically significant component of a natural viral community (Brum et al., 2013).

In marine viruses, the phenotypic characteristics and viral morphology reflect the selective pressures that these communities face, and they give insight into the host range, the replication of viruses, and their function (Suttle, 2005; Vincent & Vardi, 2023). A myovirus, for example, has a large host range and is generally lytic, which is a competitive advantage that can be transferred to species that are r-strategist in nature and thrive with elevated production rates in fluctuating environments (Breitbart et al., 2018). A *podovirus*, on the other hand, is highly specific to its host, while a *siphovirus* is intermediate between the two. Furthermore, several siphoviruses can insert their genome into their hosts for several generations (i.e., lysogeny), which is similar to a stable environment characteristic of K-Page | 6

strategist species (Breitbart et al., 2018; Suttle, 2007). As a result of the ability of viruses to potentially cope with almost any type of environmental situation and interface (Hurst, 2011), it is not surprising that they can develop along the continuum of r-k selection. This, in turn, may explain their ubiquity, thus resulting in the concept of a virosphere, which stems from the typical r (e.g., prokaryotes) to k (e.g., vertebrates) strategy (Suttle, 2007).

1.5 Diversity of Marine Viral Genome

According to the ICTV, most of the viral species reported, have only been isolated from laboratory cultures representing not even 1% of the total viruses in environmental samples (Hugenholtz et al., 1998). Consequently, there is a high degree of diversity among environmental viruses, though most of them are unknown (Rohwer & Edwards, 2002). It is, therefore, crucial to employ molecular approaches to access the largest unexplored reservoir of biodiversity on the earth (Hambly & Suttle, 2005), which are not only characterized by whole genome sequencing of phages (Allen et al., 2011) but also assembled using metagenomics datasets (Rosario et al., 2009). Since no gene is universally conserved among viruses, polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based methods are limited to a limited number of viral groups; however, PCR primers are based on previously identified sequences described in public databases, which means a major portion of the existing diversity of these viral groups is not covered. It has been reported that viral metagenomics offers a comprehensive overview of viral diversity in uncultured samples (Breitbart et al., 2002), and thus has revealed a richness and diversity of viral communities that was not previously known (Edwards & Rohwer, 2005). The following methods can be applied to describe marine viral diversity.

1.5.1 Whole Genome Comparison

The lack of reference bacterial phage genomes in reference databases constitutes one of the fundamental barriers to the integration of viruses into microbial ecology studies. Currently, reference databases only contain sequenced phages from 8 out of the 29 bacterial phyla with cultured isolates, which is a very small percentage (0.001%) of the total genome sequence databases (Bibby, 2014). They include *Proteobacteria, Firmicutes, Bacteriodetes, Actinobacteria, Cyanobacteria, Chloramydiae, Tentericutes,* and *Deinococcus-Thermus.* Comparative genomics has revealed that there are a significant amount of genomic diversity and novelties that can be found within the genomes of these few phages, as well as hypotheses about how phage genomes adapt to aquatic environments. In a comparison study

of 26 T4-like genomes of myoviruses that infect diverse marine Cyanobacteria (Prochlorococcus, Synechococcus), the genetic structure of the viruses was revealed to be highly syntenic, with genes for DNA replication being observed in all genomes, followed by genes for virion structure, previously described genes, and several hypothetical genes (Sime-Ngando, 2014). Additionally, to the cyanophage-encoded photosynthetic and phosphate stress genes that have already been described, genes that appear to serve numerous putative functions (e.g., phytanoylCoA dioxygenase, 2-oxoglutarate) have been described along with genes that may be responsible for niche diversification and niche expansion (Sullivan et al., 2010). According to the first genome sequence of a deep-photic marine cyanobacterial siphovirus that was recently revealed, the lysogenic lifestyle of this virus was prevalent, as well as significant differences in size and divergence from previously sequenced siphoviruses, and the virus did not contain photosynthetic genes, which are consistently found in other marine cyanophages (Sullivan et al., 2009). Also, a genomic and functional analysis of a new marine siphovirus isolated from marine Vibrio revealed the genome of this new siphovirus to be significantly larger (80,598 bp) than the genomes of other siphoviruses, as well as a novel shell symmetry, which allows it to hold together against a variety of chemical, physical, and environmental stressors with remarkable stability (Baudoux et al., 2012). It is expected that whole genome sequencing and reconstruction of unrepresented phages will provide significant insight into viral diversity, ecology, and evolution and provide molecular tools to study groups of viruses, as well as provide deep insight into phages that are currently absent from the database.

It has indeed been shown through comparisons of several whole genomes that within certain viral taxonomic groups, certain genes are conserved across all of them. The conservation of these genes in cultured and environmental viruses can be studied using PCR amplification and sequencing to study both groups of viruses. These types of genes include structural proteins such as gp20, which codes to produce capsids in T4 phage-like viruses, DNA polymerases for podovirus similar to T7, or RNA-dependent RNA polymerase fragments (Culley et al., 2007), which have been used in the identification of new groups of marine picornaviruses. According to the data from the conserved gene studies, viral diversity is abundant in the environment and its characterization is largely unknown (Breitbart & Rohwer, 2005).

1.5.2 Metagenomic Analysis

A revolution in microbiology has taken place because of the advent of the concept of metagenomics, which enables the assessment of microbial communities in complex environments without the dependency on culture (Simon & Daniel, 2011). Metagenomic analysis of viral diversity or an analysis of viromes has found that the diversity of viral populations in the environment is very high and largely uncharacterized (Angly et al., 2006; Roux et al., 2012). There has been metagenomic analysis conducted on 184 viral assemblages collected from 68 sites around the world over the span of a decade in four major oceanic regions (Angly et al., 2006) that shows that most of the viral DNA and protein sequences do not match the ones in the current databases. There are likely several hundred thousand species in the world, and the richness of each region varies along a latitude gradient that runs from north to south. However, it was found that most viral species are widespread in environments, which supports the idea that marine viruses are also widely dispersed and that local environmental conditions produce viral strains that are enriched by selective pressure. Despite the vast geographical distances between sample locations within each of these biomes, a study on comparative viral metagenomics demonstrated that freshwater, marine, and hypersaline environments were distinct from each other based on comparative viral metagenomics. This suggests that the viral communities from related environments are genetically similar (Roux et al., 2012).

As an unexpected result of metagenomics of marine RNA viruses, it has been discovered that picorna-like viruses dominate the RNA virome, indicating their position as representatives of the superfamily of eukaryotic viruses (Kristensen et al., 2010). According to Lang et al. (2009), the majority of marine RNA viruses infect eukaryotes, primarily protists, which are the predominant hosts of most of these viruses (Culley et al., 2007). The abundance of RNA viruses in coastal seawater was found to be equal to or greater than that of DNA viruses in a recent quantitative study on total RNA and DNA mass in viral fractions (Steward et al., 2013). Similarly, Roux et al. (2012) reported similar results in freshwater systems. It seems likely that protists contribute more to the dynamics of marine viruses than one might expect based on the relatively low abundance of picorna-like viruses due to their small genomes, which means they are below the detection limit of fluorescence-based counting methods, suggesting that marine viruses will be made up of many more protists than one might expect. Additionally, 129 genetically novel and distinct viruses have been Page | 9

identified depending on whole genome assemblages from temperate and subtropical seawater in a recent metagenomic study (Labonté & Suttle, 2013). Most of these viruses are singlestranded DNA viruses, which are economically significant to plants and animals. Aquatic viruses have been primarily assumed to contain double-stranded DNA and infect bacteria, but the discovery of RNA and ssDNA viruses changes this view fundamentally. The lack of a significant fraction of viruses in aquatic ecosystems likely contributes to the apparent discrepancy between the diversity of viruses derived from genomes and those derived from metagenomes (Ignacio-Espinoza et al., 2013).

Overall, the metagenomic study of viruses is increasingly emerging as an important tool for understanding the evolution of viruses, changing the idea of what constitutes viruses, and revealing novel groups of viruses and virus-like agents (Kristensen et al., 2010). A considerable difference exists in the gene composition of marine DNA viromes compared to known phages. There is a large number of unidentified genes in the virome, many of which could be contained in VLPs called gene transfer agents (GTAs), which are DNA carriers that carry DNA from one host to another (Lang et al., 2012). There has been considerable evidence that marine metagenomes are composed of bacterial genes, but several sequences have been found to be homologous to conserved genes of large DNA viruses of eukaryotes, leading to the discovery of a wide range of previously understudied viruses as well as suggesting that new classes of virus-like agents might exist.

1.6 Phage Life Cycle

A better understanding of the life choices bacteriophages makes and how environmental factors affect them is necessary before determining the potential impacts phages may have on polar ecosystems. The phages can adopt one of three major lifestyle choices presented in **Figure 2**. Many factors might influence these choices, including the genetics and physiological state of the phage and the host. A productive, lysogenic, or pseudolysogenic lifestyle (Miller, 2006) is commonly used to describe them. The Arctic and Antarctic have not yet been studied for pseudolysogeny, but each of these choices will be discussed in detail in this section. Although the causes of these differences are not known, it is believed that the loss rates of virus particles in freshwater environments might be higher, which may result in a greater abundance of virus particles, while the high VBR in the deep ocean may be attributed to the presence of viral accumulation zones (Hara et al., 1991; Parada et al., 2007; Proctor & Fuhrman, 1990).

1.6.1 Choosing a Life of Productivity

Bacteriophages produce progeny virions through their productive life cycle as implied by their name (Saye, 1989). There comes a time in the life cycle of every phage when it undergoes a productive cycle. Viral progenies are assembled from phage nucleic acid and capsid proteins after the host is infected. According to Miller and Day (2008), productive life cycles can be distinguished as either lytic or chronic.

1.6.1.1 Lytic productive cycle

After lysing the host cell, progeny phage particles are released into the environment during the end of lytic cycles. **Figure 2.A** illustrates the lytic productive cycles of double-stranded DNA bacteriophages that infect *E. coli* (Saye, 1989). There are several parameters that are dependent on the environment during the lytic period of each phage species. Virions are released into the environment during the latency period, which is the interim between infection and the release of the progeny virions by the infected cells. The period of phage growth is usually longer in oligotrophic environments than it would be in a laboratory setting, in which the host has access to nutrients to supply energy and macromolecular building blocks for phage growth (amino acids and nucleotides) (Kokjohn & Sayler, 1991). When nutrients are scarce, progeny phage burst size, which measures virions production on average, is smaller than when nutrients are abundant (Kokjohn & Sayler, 1991). Most phage-like particles are found in the environment resulting from this lifestyle.



Figure 2: Several types of phage life cycles (A) The lytic cycle (B) Lysogenic cycle (C) The phage chronic lifestyle. The figure is adapted from Bayat et al. (2021)

1.6.1.2 Chronic life cycle

Alternatively, many filamentous phages are characterized by a chronic life cycle (**Figure 2.C**) that has a longer period of productive life in comparison to other phage types. Unlike the lytic productive cycle that ends with the death of the host cell, the chronic productive cycle continues long after infection. In fact, the infected cells continue to release virions through the cellular membrane of the host throughout this process (Miller & Day, 2008). The phage particles are slowly produced until the cellular membrane of the host is no longer feasible. Chronic infections are difficult to identify in nature and are little studied, despite being potentially important to natural microbial ecosystems.

1.6.2 Effect of Lytic Conversion

As previously reported, certain phage genomes often contain host-like genes that alter the phenotype of the host during the latent phase more frequently than was originally believed (Miller & Day, 2008). The presence of diphtheria toxin is a classic example of this phenomenon. This virulence factor is encapsulated within the genome of corynebacteriophage rather than the genome of the bacterium itself (Barksdale & Arden, 1974; Holmes & Barksdale, 1970; Hyman & Abedon, 2008; Miller & Day, 2008). In addition, cholera toxins (Hyman & Abedon, 2008) and Shigella toxins in E. coli O157:H7 (Canchaya et al., 2003) are among the other examples. The bacterium can not produce toxins in either of these cases, so it is not pathogenic unless it is infected or lysogenized by a bacteriophage that can code for the toxins (Miller & Day, 2008). Several pathogenic bacteria produce toxins, but some cyanophages also convert toxins into lytic proteins. There are several genes present (psbA and *psbD*) in these phage genomes that encode a polypeptide that forms a part of the core of the reaction center of their hosts' photosystem II (Angly et al., 2006; Bailey et al., 2004; Lindell et al., 2005; Mann et al., 2003). There is a rapid turnover of these proteins in the cell due to their labile nature. During the lytic growth of phages, it appears that the genes were expressed for maintaining photo-centers for the development of young virions (Bailey et al., 2004; Clokie et al., 2006; Lindell et al., 2005; Mann et al., 2003).

Several studies have demonstrated that lytic conversion in cyanophages facilitates lateral gene transfer mediated by transduction, which could lead to the evolution of these genes among cyanobacteria (Miller, 2004; Replicon et al., 1995; Saye, 1989; Saye et al., 1987). Lindell et al. (2004) suggested that lateral gene transfer among cyanophages may be an essential component of maintaining this organism's fitness in polar environments. According to Zeidner et al. (2005), uncultured environmental cyanophages and prophages of *Synechococcus* show evidence of transduction between these two genera (*Synechococcus* and *Prochlorococcus*). In addition to protecting cells against photobleaching, these gene products also play a vital role in facilitating photosynthetic processes. The phages have most likely contributed substantially to the enrichment of the bacterial gene pool by transferring these genes through the infection of their hosts (Replicon et al., 1995) and assisting in host evolution (Miller, 2004; Zeidner et al., 2005).

1.6.3 Lysogeny

Besides productive life cycles, many phages have the capability of initiating a reductive infection, where the phage genome is retained in a quiescent state inside the host's cells and no viral progeny particles are generated during this process. This reductive lifestyle can be classified into lysogeny or pseudolysogeny (Miller, 2004; Miller & Day, 2008). During lysogeny, the phage genome (also referred to as prophage) forms a prolonged relationship with the host genome by integrating itself within the host cell (Figure 2.B). Prophages can be embedded into the host's genome or maintained as plasmids in the cytoplasm, depending on the viral species. Subsequent activation of the prophage may cause it to enter a productive cycle, resulting in the production of progeny virions and the subsequent death of the host. There are several reasons why this activation could occur, including either genetic expression of the phage genome (Roux & Brum, 2018) or in response to the host's exposure to a variety of stressors in the environment. UV radiation, mitomycin C, or desiccation are a few of the common stressors which affect DNA integrity and can lead to DNA damage (Miller & Day, 2008). A repressor molecule encoded in the genomes of most prophages prevents their lytic functions from being expressed by repressing the release of their lytic products (Miller & Day, 2008; Ptashne, 2004). This repressor has both positive and negative autoregulation in the cytoplasm. In response to the stressors referred to above, the degradation of protein results in the induction of prophages that initiate lytic growth and contribute to the induction of phage degradation (Ptashne, 2004).

1.6.3.1 Effect of lysogenic conversion

A lysogenic cell, which contains an integrated prophage, may undergo both phenotypic and genotypic changes as a result of its presence (Miller & Day, 2008). Superinfection immunity is one of the most common forms of lysogenic conversion (Ptashne, 2004). A repressor of lytic expression is responsible for initiating this process by repressing the expression of lytic proteins. Upon lysogenization of a bacterium, it provides the bacterium immunity to infection by viruses belonging to similar and closely related species of the lysogen (Miller & Day, 2008). The lytic expression of lytic genes is repressed in the cytoplasm of lysogenized bacteria because of the presence of a soluble repressor. In the phage/prophage genome, these molecules interact with the operator which inhibits their expression (Ptashne, 2004). There is a balance between the concentration of bound repressor molecules as well as those which are free in the cytoplasm of the bacterium that maintains the Page | 14

binding of repressor to the prophage promoter or operator. Superinfecting phage genomes enter the cytoplasm and are immediately bound to free repressor proteins which prevent them from expressing their lytic functions, thus rendering the host immune to the infection which is caused by these phage genomes.

The host's phenotype may be altered by the expression of additional genes in many phages during reductive growth. The components of the cell envelope can be altered as a result of these changes. Depending on the host and the changes that have been made, certain bacteriophages have been shown to be resistant to infection, while others are sensitized (Saye, 1989). In addition, new metabolic systems have also been acquired (Cavenagh & Miller, 1986; Ptashne, 2004). There is evidence that many cyanobacterium phages carry a portion of the photosynthetic complex, which is capable of being expressed during both lysogeny and productive growth (Lindell et al., 2005; Lindell et al., 2004; Mann et al., 2003). It is also possible to associate the acquisition of bacteriocin production with prophage presence in the host cell (Ivánovics et al., 1976), as well as the acquisition of new restriction-modification systems (Rocha et al., 2001) and pili production (Karaolis et al., 1999), along with the synthesis of antibiotics (Martinez-Molina & Olivares, 1979). A combination of lytic conversion and lysogenic conversion has been shown to contribute to the expression of phage-encoded toxins (Mahenthiralingam, 2004), such as diphtheria toxin (Barksdale and Ardon, 1974) and cholera toxin (Hyman & Abedon, 2008).

There is a strong correlation between lysogenic conversion and fitness increase. Frye et al. (2005) suggested that phenotypes are more likely to succeed in occupying niches when they have greater flexibility and mobility. Introducing alternative phenotypes can influence the composition of bacterial communities, resulting in the dominance of lysogens in some cases (Edlin et al., 1975). The utilization of new metabolites or the expression of new virulence factors may open new ecological niches for lysogeny (Lindell et al., 2005; Mahenthiralingam, 2004; Miller & Day, 2008). Hence, lysogeny can be described as the positive symbiotic relationship between bacterium and phage (Miller & Day, 2008). In turn, this allows the phage to be protected against the environment that could otherwise cause virion decay, while also providing the host with the opportunity to establish additional niches and increase its fitness levels. Natural selection favors lysogeny due to its benefits, so it is not surprising that it appears to be widespread. The proportion of environmental bacteria that

harbor prophages varies between 21 and 60%, according to Ackerman and DuBow (1987). The number may even be underestimated. A study conducted by Ortmann et al. (2002) in a fjord in British Columbia found that 80% of heterotrophic bacteria were lysogens while approximately 0.6% were found to contain bacteriophage genomes that could be induced by mitomycin C. A similar result was reported by Miller et al. (1992) in a study conducted in Tennessee (Fort Loudon Lake) where 80% of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* sequence that found to hybridize with *Pseudomonas* phage genomes. Most bacteria have prophages or vestiges of prophages in their genomes, as determined by the sequencing of their whole genomes. Multiple prophages are found in many of them. For example, at least 18 prophages are identified in the *E. coli* O157:H7 strain Sakai. Approximately 16% of the genome is taken up by this portion, which includes a gene for the Shigella toxin, which is a crucial factor in making O157:H7 play such an important role in food contamination (Canchaya et al., 2003; Miller & Day, 2008).

1.6.4 Pseudolysogeny

In 1971, Baess introduced the concept of pseudolysogeny. After reviewing the early literature on the topic, Baess defined pseudolysogeny as a phage-host interaction in which phages elicit an unproductive, unstable response from their hosts (Miller & Ripp, 1998; Miller & Day, 2008). During this stage of development, there is no evidence of lysogeny or productive growth. Instead, the viral genome resides in limbo for prolonged times as a preprophage within the host cell (Miller & Ripp, 2002). Miller and Day (2008) compare preprophagy to true lysogeny which has a linear inheritance pattern instead of an exponential one. A pseudolysogenic pre-prophage was proposed by (Miller & Ripp, 2002) in the context of severely starved hosts in which the phage was unable to acquire sufficient energy and substrates to allow the phage to function as a productive or lysogenic agent. Cellular starvation is described as a common phenomenon in environmental ecosystems (Koch, 1979; Morita, 1997). The polar regions, in particular Antarctica, exhibit this characteristic. The availability of nutrients varies with the time in every ecosystem (Miller & Day, 2008). A preprophage can be converted into a true prophage during these periods, or phage growth can begin in some cases (Miller & Ripp, 1998; Miller & Day, 2008; Miller & Ripp, 2002; Ripp & Miller, 1997, 1998). No reports of pseudolysogeny were found in the Arctic during the literature review of this thesis.

1.7 Phages in the Arctic

There have been decades of fascination among microbiologists and other scientists regarding the ecology and molecular biology of bacteriophages. Our understanding of how the cell works and the basis of molecular biology was founded on studies of E. coli and its phages T4 and λ . Phages have been the subject of many studies concerning their molecular biology and ecology (Abedon, 2008). However, the polar regions have received little attention. Despite some studies on Arctic and Antarctic phages that identified and characterized specific phages, most studies focused on identifying VLPs or only provided metagenomic data. Even so, these studies provide valuable information regarding the ecology of these viruses as well as their importance for the functioning of polar ecosystems. An analysis of the evolutionary relationships among bacteriophages around the world was conducted by Hendrix et al. (2002). Their results suggest that dsDNA-tailed phages share a common ancestry, indicating genetic exchange among bacteriophages throughout evolutionary time (Hendrix et al., 2002). They propose that these complex phage genomes are mosaics associated with a common genetic pool through lateral gene transfer. The adaptation to these unique environments may have led to the development of unique characteristics of phages from polar regions, as many of their characteristics are similar to those of their more temperate relatives. Exploring the molecular genetics and biology of these viruses will provide a fascinating insight into how the most fundamental of organisms have evolved to cope with the stresses of extreme cold and seasonal variations found in the Arctic environment.

There have been few studies conducted on bacteriophages and their hosts in the Canadian Arctic and North Atlantic seaboard. Wells and Deming (2006a) investigated the impact of viral predation on bacterial growth in the bottom waters of Franklin Bay in the Canadian Arctic. In subzero-temperature bottom waters during February and March 2004, they used epifluorescence microscopy to estimate the relative abundances of VLPs and bacteria. The concentrations of VLPs in seawater were generally one order of magnitude higher than bacterial densities ($1x10^6$ to $4x10^6$ /ml versus $1x10^5$ to $3x10^5$ /ml, respectively). Bacteriophage infection plays a significant role in regulating bacterial populations in these oligotrophic waters as it results in substantial viral-induced death of bacteria comparable to or exceeding intrinsic bacterial growth rates. There was a similar concentration of VLPs in these bottom waters to that observed in the summer months (Steward et al., 1996), but the Page | 17

concentrations were higher than those observed in Arctic surface waters (Bergh et al., 1989). Steward et al. (1996) found that VLP concentrations ranged from 10^6 to 10^7 /ml in Bering and Chukchi seawater during the summer months (August and September 1992), while bacterial cell concentrations ranged from 5×10^5 /ml. Generally, there was around a five-to-one ratio between the VLPs and bacteria in most of the cases. In their study, the researchers found that the viral lysis may have contributed to 3 to 25% of the bacteria mortality (depending on the depth and station of the study). The size of the bacterial population was determined by the amount of bacteriophage lysis, which was equal to or even more important than the amount of flagellates grazing the bacteria. Because viruses are species-specific (Ackerman & DuBow, 1987; Miller, 1998), Steward et al. (1996) caution that viruses may destroy specific bacterial communities in these polar seas. A high diversity of species could be regulated by conditions like these, which could result in the succession or the extinction of species (Fuhrman, 1992). According to Payet and Suttle (2008), there are spatial and seasonal correlations between phage and bacterial counts in the Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf of the Canadian Arctic, as well as biotic and abiotic variables. It was found that in the spring and summer months, the abundance of VLPs was 1.5 to 2 times greater than in the winter months, ranging from 10^5 to 10^6 /ml. In addition, there was a four- to six-fold increase in bacteria and phytoplankton during these periods. A total of 72% of the VLPs described in the study were identified as bacteriophages, while the remainder were identified as phytoplankton-infecting agents. Those results suggest that bacteriophage and algal phage populations in Arctic waters can be controlled by bacteriophages and algal phages.

During June 2001 and April 2002, Winter et al. (2004) carried out an interesting study in the North Sea where they looked at how viral infection and production cycled throughout the day during the period of the study. They reported that the rate of phage infection (55 to 64%) was highest at night, while several times more bacterial activity was recorded during the day by incorporation of leucine [14C]. The highest levels of lysis and phage production were found during the peak period of bacterial activity between noon and early afternoon. According to these data, induction of productive growth occurs when the host cells are at their most metabolically active level so that they are able to produce the maximum number of virions and induce productive growth.

There have been several papers that have investigated viral activity in the communities of microbes in polar ice. In an Arctic glacier, Säwström et al. (2002) investigated cryoconite holes. From these holes, they found that bacterial concentrations ranged from 1×10^4 to 4.5×10^4 /ml of water. Compared to the top of the hole, the level of bottom materials was slightly higher. The VBR was found to range from 0.2 to 8.1 in this study. The heterotrophic nanoflagellates in the ecosystem have been found to be directly dependent on VLPs as well as bacteria for energy. Arctic winter sea ice brines contain higher levels of viral and bacterial concentrations than seawater, thereby increasing the likelihood of host-pathogen interaction (Wells & Deming, 2006b). In the coldest ice horizons (-31 to -24°C), the highest levels of VLPs were obtained, with levels as high as 8×10^7 /ml of brine. There were bacteria counts of 1×10^7 CFU/ml of brine, but most commonly between $2x10^6$ to $4x10^6$ CFU/ml. These data demonstrate that despite temperatures as low as -12°C in sea-ice brines, viral production and bacterial growth can continue unabated. Researchers have examined a variety of freshwater ecosystems including glaciers and lakes in the Arctic and alpine environments (Hofer & Sommaruga, 2001; Maurice et al., 2010; Säwström et al., 2007). Several freshwater Arctic habitats were found to have 10⁴-10⁶ heterotrophic bacteria and 10⁴-10⁸ VLPs per ml of water (Säwström et al., 2007). Despite using mitomycin C to induce phage particle production as the criterion for determining the presence of lysogenic bacteria in these populations, the authors could not detect lysogenic bacteria.

Maurice et al. (2010) found that three northern temperate lakes contained lysogens in their bacterial populations. These lake waters contained 10-fold greater amounts of VLPs (10^7 /ml) than bacteria (10^6 /ml), as detected by seasonal variation in the populations. There was a decrease in numbers in the winter months as compared to the summer months. Twenty-three of the thirty samples analyzed showed that a considerable proportion of bacteria were lysogenized by temperate phages. The percentage of bacteria infected with a virus was approximately 2% in all three lakes. Lysogenized bacteria were found in 5 to 73% of these populations, with little seasonal variation. During the winter, the most eutrophic lake showed higher levels of lysogeny than during the spring. In winter under the ice, lysogen numbers were lower in two other lakes that were more oligotrophic. Spring marked a dramatic increase in their frequency. According to these findings, reductive infections are more likely to occur at high metabolic levels. Hofer and Sommaruga (2001) studied viruses in an alpine lake to determine their seasonal dynamics. In the winter, VLPs were most abundant beneath the ice Page | 19

covering the lake $(5\times10^{6} \text{ /ml})$. The VBR was typically between 2 and 6, with bacterial concentrations slightly lower than VLP concentrations. Most of the bacterial mortality was caused by virus-mediated lysis, accounting for 5 to 28% of the mortality rate. A decrease in VLPs was observed following the ice breakup. Upon removal of the ice cover, these microbes are more likely to encounter more lethal solar UV radiation, according to the authors. In this study, filamentous phages were found to be associated with filamentous bacteria. Freshwater aquatic systems rarely harbor these microorganisms. As part of their study, Middelboe et al. (2002) explored the northern waters between Canada and Greenland. During the experiment, bacteria were grown, and phages lysed in subzero water. Throughout the sampling stations, the bacteria count was approximately 10⁶ CFU/ml, whereas the concentration of VLP was two- to five-fold higher. Approximately 6 to 28% of bacteria died because of viral infection. A *Pseudoalteromonas* species was also isolated and characterized along with its associated bacteriophage. In their sampling range, they observed phage-host interactions throughout and determined that phage production was substantial even at temperatures as low as 0°C.

Polar Sea ice collected northwest of Svalbard, Arctic, Norway, and was characterized by three phage-host systems (Borriss et al., 2003). The study was conducted on phages that infect *Flavobacterium hibernum, Shewanella frigidimarina*, and *Colwellia psychrerythraea*. Bacteria and phages have both evolved to survive in freezing conditions. There is no restriction for the hosts to grow at 0°C. While there was a maximum growth rate for the phages below 14°C and well-formed plaques were produced at 0°C. In electron microscopy, the phages were identified as belonging to the siphovirus and myovirus families of tailed, dsDNA phages. Each of them infected only the species from which it was isolated. Borriss et al. (2007) have isolated a bacteriophage from the Arctic Sea ice infecting a psychrophilic *Flavobacterium* species. It has a 36 kbp genome with a 30.6% GC content. There is no known phage genome with a lower GC content, which may be related to the virus's isolation from a very cold environment. According to the analysis of the sequences and proteins of this bacteriophage, it is a mesophilic nonmarine siphovirus closely related to the bacteriophage SPP1 that infects *B. subtilis* (Alonso et al., 1997). As viruses evolved, they exchanged genetic material with each other when they infected hosts with quite distinctive characteristics.

1.8 Molecular Studies of Marine Bacteriophages

Filée et al. (2005) evaluated the distribution of bacteriophages that are similar to T4type globally. A DNA primer designed to amplify the T4 g23 gene was assessed on samples collected from British Columbia fjords, the Gulf of Mexico, and the Arctic Ocean. An analysis of the phylogenetic relationships between the T4-like bacteriophages in many environments, including the Arctic samples, led to the discovery of five previously uncharacterized subgroups of T4-like bacteriophages. The results of their study demonstrate the ubiquitous presence and diversity of T4-like viruses throughout the world as well as their ability to infect a significantly broader range of hosts than previously believed.

Short and Suttle (2005) and Chenard and Suttle (2008) examined the phylogenetic diversity of cyanophages. In addition to isolates from the Arctic Ocean, Gulf of Mexico, and northeast Pacific Oceans, Chenard and Suttle examined samples from Lake Constance, Germany, and a few freshwater lakes in northern Ontario, Canada. The presence of the psbA gene was examined in phages that infect *Synechococcus* and *Prochlorococcus* species. Despite cyanophage phylogenies differing between freshwater and marine cyanophages, the gene is widespread among cyanophages. Phages that cause infection of *Synechococcus* species have an evolutionary history different from those that cause infection of *Prochlorococcus* species.

A cyanophage structural gene g20 was examined by Short and Suttle (2005) to determine its diversity. This gene was found to be widespread across a wide range of samples taken from the Arctic, Southern Ocean, Northeastern and Southeast Pacific Oceans, a catfish production pond, lakes in Canada and Germany, and deep in the Chukchi Sea. All these sites were found to contain identical sequences of this gene. Closely related hosts and viruses occur worldwide, and wide-ranging habitats have likely allowed lateral gene transfer between phage communities. An analysis of metagenomes of phages from four ocean regions revealed there are many differences between the viral sequences currently in databases and those found in the Arctic Ocean, the Pacific off British Columbia, the Gulf of Mexico, and the Sargasso Sea (Angly et al., 2006). Many species were found worldwide, representing an exceedingly high diversity. In the different regions, there was a predominance of different phage assemblages. The Sargasso Sea is home to many single-stranded DNA phages, which are classified as cyanophages, and a previously unknown group of prophage-like sequences that suggest a high Page | 21

degree of lysogeny in the Arctic. All the sampling regions were observed to have the most viral species present. They differed depending on the type of virus that predominated in the area. The presence of any specific group of phages was not excluded from any of the samples (Angly et al., 2006).

Wichels et al. (1998) studied the diversity of bacteriophages in the North Sea and found elevated levels of VLPs (10^4 to 10^7 /ml) in the water. They collected eighty-five different viruses in the vicinity of Helgoland, Germany, and investigated 22 different phagehost systems. As a result of morphological studies, 11 of the phages were classified as myovirus and 7 as siphovirus; four of the phages were podoviruses. In a DNA-DNA hybridization, 13 species of phages were identified with no sequences shared among them. The infected cocci belong to the genus *Pseudoalteromonas* and are gram-negative, facultatively anaerobic, and motile.

1.9 Phages from Sewage

A process called activated sludge involves converting solids and pollutants into a biological form, and it is an established method for the treatment of sewage and industrial wastewater globally (Jenkins et al., 2003; Martins et al., 2004). A mixture of micro and macro-organisms, containing viruses, bacteria, protozoa, and metazoa, forms activated sludge, which converts organic materials into a liquid mixture low in suspended solids and organic compounds (Jenkins et al., 2003; Martins et al., 2004; Wagner et al., 2002). Wastewater treatment is one of the most significant biotechnological processes currently available. Water treated this way does not pose an ecological threat to rivers and lakes because organic and inorganic compounds are reduced by a selected bacterial community (Ju & Zhang, 2015). Flocs, which are aggregates of biomass, are distinctively organized. In summary, this process initiates with the introduction of influent into aeration basins where aeration is used to increase the oxygen supply to the wastewater, which promotes the growth of microbial communities and the formation of aggregates. Afterward, the biomass flocs settle rapidly in secondary clarifiers, where the liquid phase is removed, along with the increased biomass flocs. The primary aspect of the procedure is the recycling of much of the settled biomass back to the plant's head. Aside from being fast and occupying a small footprint, activated sludge has the advantage that it contains the most suitable populations for managing the incoming wastewater. The process is primarily controlled by maintaining sludge age, in which some of the biomass is discarded to maintain a predetermined biomass concentration.

A considerable variation in VLPs values in wastewater entering WWTPs is likely due to the variability between sites (Gulino et al., 2020) or within sites (Brown et al., 2019) and the less efficient methods used in VLP detection (Wu & Liu, 2009). It is predicted in the literature that activated sludge contains 10^8 to 10^9 VLPs per ml of mixed liquor, representing a highly diverse and abundant population of phages (Otawa et al., 2007). The values reported for faeces (Hoyles et al., 2014) are similar to those reported for sewage, considering that each defecates 150 to 200 grams of waste, contributing an average of 200 liters of water to society's sewage systems. A metagenomic investigation that compared it to the soil, plantassociated, and other artificial systems revealed 36% more viral DNA there, supporting the high abundance of phages, which primarily consist of siphovirus family members (Wang et al., 2018). There had been relatively little research on phage communities prior to 2011, despite an understanding of activated sludge and viruses involved (Shapiro & Kushmaro, 2011). This status has improved with the introduction of metagenomics investigations and next-generation DNA sequencing (NGS) of isolated phages (Brown et al., 2019; Dyson et al., 2016; Dyson et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2015; Petrovski et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2019). Several bacterial genomes present in activated sludge systems are now known to contain regions of the CRISPR-Cas system, indicating that they have previously been infected by phages, as the presence of these regions is suggestive of previous infections. Thus, the presence of these phages complicates the determination of host/phage relationships, and consequently phage recovery (Liu et al., 2017).

A variety of gut bacteria strains have been reported to be infected by bacterial phages found in raw sewage such as *E. coli* (Grami et al., 2023; Jebri et al., 2017), *Shigella* (Montso et al., 2019; Muniesa et al., 2004), *Enterobacter* (Wangkahad et al., 2015), *Klebsiella* (Muniesa et al., 2003; Wangkahad et al., 2015), *Salmonella* (Carey-Smith et al., 2006), *Pseudomonas* (Essoh et al., 2015), *Staphylococcus* (Synnott et al., 2009), *Enterococcus* (Bonilla et al., 2010; Vijayavel et al., 2014), *Aeromonas* (Wangkahad et al., 2015), and *Bacteroides* (Jebri et al., 2017). However, the number of studies that quantify infectious phages is relatively low, except for those that infect *E. coli* usually recognized as coliphages. A second group of cultivable phages are those that infect the most abundant phylum of bacteria in our guts: the Bacteroidetes.

Electron microscopy has been used to study non-cultivable phages in sewage, and the results of these studies highlighted a huge diversity of these microbes. There are a variety of morphological forms that can be seen in electron microscopy images, with myovirus, podovirus, siphovirus, and microvirus being the most common (Brown et al., 2019; Wu & Liu, 2009). The metagenomics studies have found that raw sewage samples have a very variable metagenome composition, with a high proportion of sequences that have not yet been characterized and a predominance of DNA phages (Cantalupo et al., 2011; Gulino et al., 2020; Tamaki et al., 2012). By combining existing metagenomic data regarding sewage viromes and performing further analyses, sewage virome profiles will be able to be analyzed more comprehensively. Although most of the phages in raw sewage are derived from the gut of humans and therefore could probably be found in the peripheral microbiota, it is possible to assume that most of the phage populations in raw sewage can be found in the gut of humans (García - Aljaro et al., 2019). As part of a study conducted in New York, crAssphage, the most abundant phage found in human feces, was found in the wastewater of all 14 WWTPs tested (Gulino et al., 2020). The authors also used real-time qPCR as a method for detecting phages in municipal wastewater in 2021, reporting 10^6 and 10^7 copies per milliliter, which is 10,000 times higher than the maximum number of phages discovered too far by the culture of Bacteroides host strains (Payan et al., 2005). Further, in another study that examined WWTPs in New York, only a low percentage of samples were found to be infected by phages that were capable of infecting bacteria whose function is to cycle carbon and sulfur, and these bacteria could grow in biofilms formed in the sewer systems (Gulino et al., 2020). In a study conducted by Aghaee et al. (2021) reported the most reliable sources of *Pseudomonas* phage isolation are sewage and sewage-contaminated ambience. Furthermore, the phages found in hospital sewage lysed the bacteria most efficiently for the determination of the host range.

Phages might provide a specific method for interfering with the growth of problematic bacteria in activated sludge if it were clarified what impact they might have on them (Thomas et al., 2002). Several bacterial species may be capable of reproducing rapidly, which leads to the serious problems associated with bulking and foaming, caused primarily by filamentous bacteria, which is difficult to treat because of the limited treatment options (Petrovski et al.,

2011; Tandoi et al., 2017; Wanner, 2014). The primary intention is to reduce the population levels of these organisms below the threshold necessary to sustain bulking or foaming. Phage therapy has demonstrated great interest in controlling bouts of bulking (Jassim et al., 2016). Several lytic phages have been isolated, and their genomes sequenced for most of these bacteria responsible for foaming. However, much remains to be learned before these phages can be used on an industrial scale to control foaming despite being highly effective in controlling foaming under laboratory conditions. For instance, Liu et al. (2015) isolated four *Gordonia* phages from a WWTP and showed 10 times more effective in controlling *Gordonia* host than in non-phage treatment.

This brief overview highlights the abundance and diversity of phages in raw sewage and wastewater treatment plants. Although there is still a lot to be learned, scientists are seeking answers to many questions, including whether this density of phages has any effect on human health and the potential for application.

1.10 Scope and Significance of the Study

The Arctic environment is quite different from others. Organisms inhabiting Arctic environments are consistently exposed to severe conditions, such as frigid temperatures, elevated salinity levels, and prolonged periods of either constant illumination or darkness. Because of this extreme condition, life in the Arctic evolved different specialized strategies and molecules to survive which offer huge opportunities to prospect for novel bioactive compounds and potential industrial applications or products for different purposes. Despite the importance of phages in Arctic ecosystems, little is known about their diversity, abundance, and function. Besides, several studies focus on molecular methods only and not on virus isolation. In particular, there is a lack of information on the genetic and morphological diversity of phages in the Arctic, as well as their interactions with Arctic bacterial communities. This knowledge gap is partly due to the difficulty of isolating and characterizing phages from Arctic environments, which are characterized by low bacterial biomass and high viral diversity. This rich biodiversity and extreme environment are the catalyst to work in this project and I believe the Arctic would be the next frontier in viralbased bioprospection. There is still a lot to be learned from Arctic viruses, especially phages. In this study, I aim to use a collection of Arctic bacteria as hosts for finding Arctic phages. The bacteria used are part of the UiT Marine Bioprospecting group collection, whereas the samples used for virus isolation were collected during a teaching cruise (BIO 3612-2022 course).

This study will contribute to our understanding of the diversity and function of phages in Arctic ecosystems. The findings will provide valuable insights into the role of phages in regulating the diversity and abundance of Arctic bacterial communities, which is important for understanding the biogeochemical cycles and carbon fluxes in the Arctic. The genetic and morphological characterization of Arctic phages will also provide a basis for future studies on their potential biotechnological applications, such as phage therapy and biocontrol. This is the first project aimed at systematically isolating marine phages in Tromsø. Additionally, this study will provide a methodological framework for isolating and characterizing phages from low-biomass environments, which may apply to other extreme environments beyond the Arctic.

2 AIM

The major objective of the present study is to isolate and characterize phages from the Arctic Sea and sewage samples. To fulfill this goal, the following aims are also defined.

- Evaluate the survival of the Arctic marine bacteria during the preparation of doubleagar plates.
- Isolate bacteriophages from the Arctic.
- Grow and prepare stocks of the phages found.
- Image the phages found by electron microscopy.
- Phage genome isolation and sequencing analysis for further characterization.

3 BACKGROUND AND PRINCIPLES OF METHODS

Phage isolation and characterization are essential methods for studying the biology and ecology of bacteriophages in various environments, including the Arctic Sea and sewage. The following **Figure 3** is an overview of the methods and principles used for phage isolation and characterization from these environments.



Figure 3: The flowchart provides an overview of the methodology for phage isolation and characterization.
3.1 Phage Isolation

The first step in phage isolation involves the collection of environmental samples, such as seawater or sewage. These samples are then filtered in 0.22 or 0.45 μ m filters to remove bacteria and other large particles present in the sample. The resulting filtrate, which contains the phages, is mixed with a suitable host bacterium in the so-called enrichment culture. The mixture is then incubated, and the resulting plaques (clear zones) on the bacterial lawn indicate the presence of phages.

Once plaques are observed, the next step is to isolate individual phage particles from the mixture. This is typically done by picking a single plaque with a sterile pipette tip and eluting the phages from the plaque using a buffer solution. This eluate is then purified and concentrated using techniques such as ultracentrifugation or polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitation if a concentrated stock is needed. For conventional phage work, the filtered lysate is enough to be used as a working solution.

3.2 Phage Characterization

Characterizing phages involves determining their morphology, genome size, host range, and other biological properties. The following are some common techniques used for phage characterization; Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) and Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) can be used to visualize the morphology of phages. TEM can reveal details such as the shape, size, and structure of the phage particle.

3.3 Genomic DNA Isolation and Sequencing

The genomes and DNA genes of phages can be sequenced using next-generation sequencing technologies, which can reveal information about the phage's genetic makeup, including its gene content, organization, and phylogeny.

The principles of phage isolation are based on the fact that phages are highly specific to their host bacteria. By enriching a particular host bacterium, researchers can isolate phages that specifically target that bacterium. Additionally, the formation of plaques on a solid growth medium allows for the isolation of individual phages, which can then be further characterized and studied. Overall, phage isolation and characterization methods involve a combination of microbiology, virology, and molecular biology techniques. These methods are crucial for studying the diversity, ecology, and potential applications of phages in various environments.

4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Sample Collection and Preparation

For phage isolation, environmental samples were collected in 50 ml sterile falcon tubes during the BIO-3612 Cruise on September 08, 2022, from Stakkevollveien 1, Tromsø, Norway. Samples were collected approximately 800 m away from the seashore by the boat RV Hyas; Depth: 19-24 m (**Figure 4**). Samples were stored in an ice box before and during transfer and then stored at 4°C at the lab. The samples were filtered using 50 ml syringe filters (Henke-Jet, Germany), and transferred from the original tube to a sterile one. The samples were then stored in a cold room at 4°C until further use. Details of the samples are shown in **Table 1**. Sewage samples used were part of the Marine Bioprospecting research group sample collection, previously collected from the Breivika wastewater treatment facility and prepared as described above for the marine samples.



Figure 4: Sign indicating the sampling site for samples 53-58

Sample No	Date	Source	
41	20.04.2022	Inlet pipes (crude sewage)	
42	20.04.2022	Inlet pipes (crude sewage)	
43	20.04.2022	Inlet pipes (crude sewage)	
44	20.04.2022	Filtered sewage	
45	20.04.2022	Filtered sewage	
53	08.09.2022	Sea surface water	
54	08.09.2022	Sea surface water	
55	08.09.2022	Sea water from collected sediments (bucket 1)	
56	08.09.2022	Sea water from collected sediments (bucket 2)	
57	08.09.2022	Sea water from collected animal tray (long	
		incubation)	
58	08.09.2022	Sea water from collected sediments (bucket 2)	

Table 1: Source of collected samples for phage isolation.

4.2 Bacterial Strains and Culture Preparations (Host)

Six pure bacterial strains were provided by the Marine Bioprospecting research group, at the UiT The Arctic University of Norway. The marine bacterial strains except *E. coli* and *Vibrio* were isolated from a Bioprospecting Cruise in 2019 in the Arctic Ocean Norway and characterized as part of the Ph.D. candidate Ataur Rahman's work. Additionally, the ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* K12 strain was used to isolate phages from sewage samples. The bacterial strains were grown according to Moebus and Nattkemper (1983). From stock, the marine bacterial strains were cultured on FMAP agar plates (appendix 4) while *E. coli* on LB (Lysogeny Broth) agar (Millipore, Spain) containing 20 ml media and incubated at 4°C and 37°C, respectively to grow. From the marine bacterial culture plate, a single colony was picked and transferred to liquid FMAP media (appendix 3) to grow under agitation in the cold room at 4°C. The bacterial species used are presented in the following Table 2 along with their source and characteristic features.

ID code	Isolation Source	Genus/Species	Cell Wall	Characteristics of
				the Genus
MBP 016.7	Sediment (158 m)	Flavobacterium	G (-)	Cold water disease
				on salmonids and
				Rainbow Fry disease
				on rainbow trouts
KC1RTL 01	Infected Sea	Vibrio	G (-)	Seafood spoilage,
	Urchin			foodborne infection
SUK GRAA1	Sea Urchin	Vibrio	G (-)	Seafood spoilage,
BAC GENOME				foodborne infection
MBP011.13.1	Sediment (158 m)	Shewanella	G (-)	Spoilage of Seafood,
				foodborne infection
MBP019.6	Zooplankton	Maribacter	G (-)	Cold water disease
				on salmonids and
				Rainbow Fry disease
				on rainbow trouts
E.coli K12	Laboratory strain	E.coli	G (-)	Food poisoning,
	used for cloning			urinary tract
				infections

Table 2:Host bacteria and their characteristics features for the isolation of phages.

4.3 Bacterial Behaviour Test in Double-Layer Agar Plates

A double-layer agar technique described by Adams (1959), was used to check whether the host bacteria would survive during the heat shock of double-layer agar plate preparation (**Figure 5**) and bacterial lawn formation. This test was made considering that the Arctic marine bacteria thrive in cold environment. The soft agar (0.7% agar, appendix 5) bottle was heated, and 3 ml of media was transferred to a glass tube. The tubes were kept inside a water bath at 55°C. Right before making the plates one tube from the water bath was removed, waited for it to cool down, and 300 μ l of fresh target bacterial cultures were added. The mixture was briefly vortexed and added to the plate. The plates were incubated at 4°C until the bacterial lawn formed.



Figure 5: Double agar-layer (DAL) preparation. The picture shows the addition of the top-agar (0.7%) containing the host bacteria to an agar plate.

4.4 Phage Isolation

To obtain phages for isolation, various samples were examined for the presence of phages. These samples included surface seawater, sediment seawater, seawater that had undergone prolonged incubation with various marine organisms, as well as wastewater collected from both the Arctic Sea and a wastewater treatment plant. Phages were isolated by following the enrichment method (Sambrook et al., 1989; Spencer, 1955) with some modifications. Phage isolation is made by mixing a sample that could contain phages with a growing population of host cells (enrichment cultures). Over time, phages may establish specific interactions with their host cells, leading to an increase in the phage population, and they can be detected through screening of the enrichment cultures.

4.4.1 Preparation of Enrichment Culture

For isolating phages, an enrichment culture was prepared for each sample according to the following **Table 3**. Enrichment cultures were incubated under gentle agitation at cold temperature and sampled after 2-5 days to detect marine phage presence. While enrichment culture for coliphages were incubated in a shaking incubator at 37°C and sampled after 24 h.

Components	Volume
Sample	3.5 ml
5x liquid media	1 ml
Overnight bacterial culture	0.5 ml
Final volume	5 ml

Table 3: Components used for enrichment culture preparation.

4.4.2 Screening the Enrichment Cultures for Phages

A small fraction of each enrichment culture was transferred to clean Eppendorf tubes, and double-agar plates were prepared using specific bacteria. Plates were divided into a 3x3 grid. The Eppendorf tubes were briefly centrifuged at $5000 \times g$ to pellet the cells. On the other hand, 10% chloroform was added to the samples instead of centrifuging. These two strategies were chosen for distinct reasons: chloroform treatment is efficient in killing cells and thus avoids contamination from phage-resistant bacteria. Pelleting the cells allows the crude separation of cells and the phage-containing supernatant, but sometimes it is not enough to avoid contamination. Regardless of the treatment, 10 µl of each sample was dropped in the designated space in the plates and incubated at 4° C for marine phages and 37° C for coliphages until phage plaques appeared.

4.4.3 Plaque Purification

The soft agar overlay method (Adams, 1959; Sambrook et al., 1989) was utilized to purify bacteriophages from individual plaque isolates. After detecting phage, it is useful to make several rounds of plaque purification to adapt the phage to the host strain and avoids problems of having mixed phages in the same stock. Plaque purification was done in three passages. Starting from the right sample a 10-fold serial dilution was performed (0 to -3 for marine) and (0 to -9 for coliphages). For passage 1 the plaque from the enrichment sampling was used as a starting material. In each dilution, 200 μ l of the right bacteria was added and double agar plates (one plate for each dilution) were prepared. The plates were incubated until plaques appeared. The size, edge, and boundaries of the plaque's morphology were observed and categorized as either small (less than or equal to 1 mm), medium (1-2 mm), or large (greater than 2 mm) and classified as either clear or diffused type plaques. Using a sterile pipette tip, a clear plaque was picked up and resuspended in 100 μ l of liquid media in Eppendorf tubes. The tubes were then briefly centrifuged by using a bench centrifuge and incubated for 10 min at 4°C for marine phages and 37°C for coliphages to adapt the phages. The above process was repeated three times for each phage isolate until a uniform appearance of plaques was achieved.

4.4.4 Preparation of Phage Stocks

This step is used to prepare crude phage stocks that can be stored at -80°C (long-term preservation) and 4°C (working solutions). Highly purified phages can be obtained by ultracentrifugation, but often it is not needed for building a collection and performing phage characterization experiments. The method for preparing phage stocks was conducted using the soft agar overlay method, which had been described previously.

The isolated phages are named FL53-58_SH22, VHU53-58_SH22, VIU53-58_SH22, MR53-58_SH22, and Ec41-45_SH23 for *Flavobacterium*, *Vibrio*, *Maribacter*, and *E.coli* respectively. The beginning two characters represent the starting letters of the bacteria hosting the phages, after which comes the sample number. While "SH" follows, it stands for my name initials and is followed by the year of phage isolation. However, "HU" and "IU" denotes the source of *Vibrio* that was isolated from a healthy or infected sea urchin, respectively. After the isolation of the single phage strain, the plate with high confluency (plaques) was chosen. The top agar layer was harvested using a sterile glass spreader and transferred to a 50 ml falcon tube followed by the addition of 4 ml of culture media and gently vortexed the mixture. The tubes were centrifuged at $4500 \times g$ for 10 minutes at 4°C. Without disturbing the pellet, the supernatant was collected and filtered it using sterile syringe filters (VWR, 0.45 µm PES). After filtration, aliquots were frozen at the -80°C freezer (2x200 µl aliquots in cryotubes, no glycerol added) as stocks. The rest of the sterile lysate was kept in the fridge and used as a working solution.

4.4.5 Phage Titration

The phage solution was 10-fold diluted from 0 to -9 to determine the phage titer. Double agar plates were prepared using the appropriate host. The dilutions were plated in 10 μ l drops. The plates were incubated at 4°C for marine phages and 37°C for coliphages until plaques appear and counted the plaques in the appropriate dilution. Phage titer was calculated in the form of plaque-forming units (PFU/ml) by the following equation.

Pfu/ml = pfu counted/dilution × volume of phage dilution plate (Nasser et al., 2019)

4.5 Phage Genomic DNA Isolation

The present study employed a commercially available Norgen Biotek phage DNA extraction kit (Thorold, ON, Canada) to extract phage DNA, adhering to the manufacturer's recommended protocol. The clarified phage supernatant obtained during the preparation of phage stock was utilized as the starting material for this process. In a 15 ml tube, 1 ml of the phage lysate was transferred. To avoid host genomic DNA contamination in the phage DNA elution, 10 µl RNase-free DNase I (Thermo Fisher Scientific Baltics UAB, Lithuania) was added followed by DNase I inactivation at 75°C for 5 minutes. Also, 10 µl of Protease-free RNase A (Thermo Fisher Scientific Baltics UAB, Lithuania) was added. After adding 500 µl of Lysis Buffer B, the mixture was vortexed vigorously for 10 seconds. To increase the DNA yields, 4 µl of Proteinase K was added and incubated at 55°C for 30 minutes. The lysate was mixed occasionally 3 times during incubation by inverting the tube. After incubation, 320 µl of isopropanol was added and vortexed. A spin column was assembled with one of the provided collection tubes followed by applying up to 650 µl of the lysate to the column and centrifuged for 1 minute at 6000 x g. The flowthrough was discarded and reassembled the column and the collection tube. This process was repeated until the entire lysate had passed through the column. To wash the column, 400 µl of Wash Solution A mixed with absolute ethanol was applied to the column and centrifuged for 1 minute at 6000 x g and discarded the flowthrough and reassembled the spin column with its collection tube. The washing process described above was repeated twice and finally, the column was spined for 2 minutes to thoroughly dry the resin at 14000 x g. The column was then placed into a fresh 1.7 ml elution tube and 75 µl of Elution Buffer B was added to the column followed by centrifugation for 1 minute at 6000 x g. The purified DNA samples were stored at -80 °C for long-term storage.

4.6 Phage DNA Quantification and Restriction Digestion

Phage DNA was quantified according to the Qubit[™] broad range (BR) kit (Invitrogen, USA) manufacturer instructions. The experiment involved setting up a specific number of Qubit[™] tubes to analyze standards and samples. The Qubit[™] working solution was prepared by diluting the Qubit[™] dsDNA BR Reagent 1:200 in Qubit[™] dsDNA BR Buffer. For the standards, 190 µl of Qubit[™] working solution was added to each tube, followed by 10 µl of each Qubit[™] standard, and mixed by vortexing for 2-3 seconds. Similarly, for each sample Page | 37

assay tube, 198 µl of QubitTM working solution was added, followed by 2 µl of the sample, and mixed by vortexing for 3-5 seconds. All tubes were then incubated at room temperature for 2 minutes. The samples and standards were measured using the QubitTM 4 Fluorometer (Thermo Scientific, USA).

For restriction analysis, approximately 100 ng of each phage genome was treated with fast digest BamHI restriction endonuclease (Thermo Scientific, USA), and the resulting DNA fragments were separated using a 0.7% agarose gel stained with GelRed (Bio-Red, USA). The reaction mixture (**Table 4**) was pipetted on ice and incubated at 37°C for 5-30 minutes. Subsequently, the samples were loaded onto a 0.7% agarose gel and run side-by-side. The marker used was 1 Kb Plus DNA Ladder (Invitrogen, USA). The profiles of the separated DNA fragments were visualized after exposure to UV light, and a picture was taken.

Components	Ec41_SH23	Ec42_SH23	Ec43_SH23	Ec44_SH23	Ec45_SH23
DNA	20	17	17	15	20
Enzyme	2	2	2	2	2
10x green buffer	3	3	3	3	3
Water	5	8	8	10	5
The final volume (µl)	30	30	30	30	30

Table 4: Chemical components and the volumes used in phage genome digestion.

4.7 Transmission Electron Microscopy

Transmission electron microscopy was conducted on three phage isolates (Ec41_SH23, Ec44_SH23, and FL54_SH22), and phage morphotypes were determined using negative staining as described previously (Brenner & Horne, 1959). TEM analysis was conducted on fresh phage lysates. A clear spot or plaque less than 24 hours old was repeatedly washed using LB medium and phage lysate was collected carefully without disturbing the soft agar. The sample is briefly vortexed and brought to the TEM lab. To prepare the image, a clean surface covered with parafilm was used, onto which 5 μ l of the specimen was deposited. To prepare for electron microscopy, a 400-mesh copper acid grid was coated with carbon and placed on drops for 5 minutes. Afterward, the grid was washed four times with distilled water drops. Staining was then performed with 1% uranyl acetate (Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Page | 38

Germany) for 20 seconds, followed by blotting to remove excess uranyl acetate and allowing the grid to dry for a few minutes. The resulting sample was observed using a Zeiss transmission electron microscope (Carl Zeiss LEO EM 906 E, Germany) with an accelerating voltage of 100 kV in the microscope lab at the Faculty of Health Science, UiT The Arctic University of Norway. The phage morphology was noted and compared to that of known phages.

5 RESULTS

The present study employed municipal sewage water as well as various saltwater samples collected in the vicinity of Tromsø City as the primary sources for the identification, isolation, and study of bacteriophages.

5.1 Cultures of the Arctic Marine Host Bacteria

The marine hosts cultured on FMAP plates after being successfully retrieved from the glycerol stock in the freezer (-80°C) are shown in **Figure 6**. Despite being cold-adapted bacteria, the heat shock during DAL preparation did not impair the formation of a bacterial lawn (important for phage screening) in any of the hosts used. However, it took 2-3 days for *Flavobacterium, Vibrio,* and *Shewanella* to form a confluent bacterial lawn whereas *Maribacter* took 5 days to appear. On the other hand, *E. coli* lawns fully developed within 24 hours.



Figure 6: Marine bacterial cultures on FMAP media plates.

5.2 Isolated Phages and Screened Enriched Cultures

Following the preparation of the enrichment cultures, an initial screening was done to confirm the presence of bacteriophages in the samples at set time points. A clear zone over the bacterial lawn is supposed to be observed due to the lytic activity of the phages when a phage is present. Initially, we assessed two alternatives for treating the collected samples from the enrichment cultures: centrifugation and chloroform treatment. Both have the same objective: avoid the appearance of bacterial colonies in the area in which drops are added to the double-agar plates. Phage lysis was easier to see in samples treated with chloroform. When non-chloroform centrifuged samples were tested, often we saw growth of bacteria inside the drop zones, making it impossible to verify phage presence. Therefore, chloroform treatment was chosen for the rest of the plaque isolation process to remove the bacterial growth in the drops.

Screening of the enrichment cultures confirmed the presence of phages (**Figure 7**) in all samples of the following hosts: *Flavobacterium*, *Vibrio* (from healthy sea urchin), *Maribacter*, and *E. coli*. Also, phage presence was detected in only one sample in the *Vibrio* isolated from the infected sea urchin. On the other hand, there was no clear zone of inhibition observed for the *Shewanella* host, hence no presence of phage against it in the tested samples. Appendix 7 shows the consolidated data from marine sample analysis.



Figure 7: Presence of phages from the screening of enrichment culture. The arrow indicates bacterial lysis due to phages. Flavobacterium (B) represents centrifuged treated samples while others are chloroform treated.

5.3 Phage Growth and Plaque Purification

For subsequent characterization, phage isolation was performed by repeated plaque purification. To collect the pure phages, plaque purification was done for all the positive samples individually. Samples used in this step were collected from the lysis zone that appeared during the screening of the enrichment culture. During the purification of the marine phages, no plaques appeared when we tried to grow them on a whole plate. However, plaque formation was seen when placed as drops in the titration step which were later collected and stored for further analysis.

However, plaques appeared all over the plates in all the purification stages (Passage 1, passage 2, and Passage 3) of the coliphages. To isolate a single phage strain one of the plates carrying the best number of plaques was chosen and from it, one single plaque was collected. This material was diluted in a 10-fold dilution series, used for plating and this process was repeated three times. The following phages Ec41_SH23, Ec43_SH23, and Ec45_SH23 showed uniform plaques of morphology (**Figure 8, Figure 9**, and **Figure 10**); round-shaped clear regions ranging from 1-4 mm in size throughout the purification steps. In contrast, 3

distinct types of plaque appeared in the first purification stage for Ec42_SH23 (**Figure 11**). However, in the later stage, they appeared as homogenized plaques (**Figure 12**).



Figure 8: Phage purification outcome of Ec41_SH23, the process shown at three different passage stages. Arrow indicates the plaque formation on Amp-resistant E. coli bacterial lawn.



Passage 2

Passage 3



Figure 9: Phage purification outcome of Ec43_SH23, the process shown at three different passage stages. Arrow indicates the plaque formation on Amp-resistant E. coli bacterial lawn.

Passage 1

Passage 2

Passage 3



Figure 10: Phage purification outcome of Ec45_SH23, the process shown at three different passage stages. Arrow indicates the plaque formation on Amp-resistant E. coli bacterial lawn.



Figure 11: Three different plaque morphotypes are shown in the plate containing Ec42_SH23 phages in the passage 1 purification process. The plaques are formed on Amp-resistant E. coli bacterial lawns.



Figure 12: Uniform plaque morphotype of Ec42_SH23 phage in passage 2 purification process. Arrow indicates plaques formation on Amp-resistant E. coli bacterial lawns.



Figure 13: Uniform plaque morphotype of Ec42_SH23 phage in passage 3 purification process. The plaques are formed on Amp-resistant E. coli bacterial lawns.

5.4 Phage Titer

Since the marine phages did not grow in the purification stages, only the coliphage stocks were made and their titer was determined. The phage titer was ascertained by 10-fold serial dilutions followed by the plating of dilution drops. Plaques were counted after overnight incubation at 37°C and the titer of the isolated phage was determined to be 2×10^{10} , 8×10^{10} , 3×10^{10} , 5×10^{10} , and 4×10^{10} pfu/ml for phage Ec41_SH23, Ec42_SH23, Ec43_SH23, Ec44_SH23, and Ec45_SH23, respectively. Phage Ec44_SH23 was isolated by Frøde, and the rest of the analysis was done by me. **Figure 14** shows the plaques of the bacteriophages after titration.



Figure 14: Visualizing phage stock titration: correlating plaque formation with phage concentration at different dilutions. Arrow indicates the plaque formation on Amp-resistant E. coli bacterial lawn.

5.5 Phage Genomic DNA and Restriction Profiles

The amount of nucleic acid extracted from phages using QubitTM 4 Fluorometer (Thermo Scientific, USA) is presented in **Table 5**. Based on the measurements, the amount of nucleic acid extracted from the phages ranged from 4.63 ng/µl to 6.83 ng/µl. The results revealed that phage Ec44_SH23 had the highest value of 6.83 ng/µl, whereas phage Ec41_SH23 had the lowest value of 4.63 ng/µl.

Phage	DNA Concentration (ng/µl)
Ec41_SH23	4.63
Ec42_SH23	5.65
Ec43_SH23	5.62
Ec44_SH23	6.83
Ec45_SH23	4.64

Table 5: Qubit fluorophore measurements of extracted phage DNA.

The restriction enzyme BamHI was used to distinguish the isolated phages by a restriction digestion profile. The pattern of the digestion is shown in **Figure 15**. For phage Ec41_SH23, BamHI digestion yielded several bands, compared to only three bands for the other phages.



Figure 15: Restriction profiles of BamHI digested coliphage nucleic acid; separated by electrophoresis in an agarose gel. Lanes: M- 1Kb marker, 41-45 represents the phage number Ec41_SH23 to Ec45_SH23.

5.6 Morphological Characteristics

Morphological analysis of samples Ec41_SH23, Ec44_SH23, and FL54_SH23 was made under a TEM. The TEM micrographs obtained from high-titer lysates showed that the virion morphology of the phages Ec41_SH23, and Ec44_SH23 was similar to caudovirus which are tailed bacteriophages with an icosahedral head that contains the viral genome and is attached to the tail by a connector protein (Turner et al., 2021). Ec41_SH23 phage exhibited both podovirus (**Figure 16.A**) and myovirus (**Figure 16.B**) type morphologies. However, only the podovirus morphotype was found on the Ec44_SH23 phage (**Figure 17.A**). While *Flavobacterium* phage showed unusual characteristics like a round head with a short tail (**Figure 17.B**).



Figure 16: TEM of phage Ec41_SH23 with negatively stained 1% uranyl acetate. In A, the Red circle indicates podovirus-like morphotypes; scale bar is 200 nm. In B, Arrow indicates myovirus-like morphotypes; scale bar 100 nm.



Figure 17: TEM image of phage A) Ec44_SH23 and B) FL54_SH22 with negatively stained 1% uranyl acetate. In A, the arrow indicates podovirus-like morphotypes; scale bar 200 nm. In the B, arrow indicates a round head with short contractile tail morphotypes; scale bar 100 nm.

6 **DISCUSSION**

The isolation of phages is possible from a variety of sources including seawater, sewage water, soil, and other waste products. This study aimed to isolate and characterize phages from the Arctic environmental sources, including sewage and marine water. In this study, bacteriophages infecting *Flavobacterium*, *Vibrio, Shewanella*, and *Maribacter*, as well as an antibiotic-resistant *E. coli* that is pathogenic in humans were found. This study was designed to isolate bacteriophages from Arctic seawater and sediment as well as sewage, following a method described by (Spencer, 1955).

The use of bacteriophages for treating different bacterial diseases has been developed in the 1920s and is being used since then in different countries. Considering that phages largely feed on specific bacteria, they have been found to possess bactericidal properties. The use of phage therapy was kept alive in Poland and Georgia. As a consequence of the multidrugresistant strains of bacteria that have emerged in the past decade, more and more people all over the globe are dying every year because of infections caused by these resistant organisms (Murray et al., 2022). The evolution of drug resistance is a good example of the fact that microbes can evolve with each generation. Phages are being preferred as an alternative to broad-spectrum antibiotics because, unlike antibiotics, they are highly specific for a particular strain of bacteria, which prevents the development of resistance against general strains (Brüssow et al., 2005). Phages are considered non-living entities outside of their host cells, and in order to replicate and perform other metabolic functions they must be in contact with their host cells (Carlton, 1999). The lethal nature of bacteriophages has been known since they were discovered.

6.1 Isolation and Purification of Arctic Marine Phages

Phages found in this project were likely lytic based on the development of clear zones of lysis against different host bacteria. Out of the five marine bacteria used as hosts in this study, only *Shewanella* had no hints of phage presence. However, it was not possible to purify and follow up with any of these marine phages because they did not grow in the purification process. Explanations for this are likely the lack of specific micronutrients in the growth media that were present in the original marine samples, or stability in the temperatures used in the laboratory cultures. According to Borriss et al. (2003), arctic marine phages are sensitive

to temperature, and their plaque formation is optimal at 0°C. The complex nature of the special marine environmental conditions under ordinary laboratory conditions may have hindered the isolation systems. One possible explanation could be the fact that phages and bacteria from the Arctic Sea and seafloor are highly sensitive to temperature. The temperature sensitivity of these phages may also have implications for their survival and persistence in the Arctic marine environment, which is characterized by extreme and variable temperature regimes. Nevertheless, the inability to purify these phages may also be due to several factors, including low phage concentration in the sample, the presence of phage inhibitors, or the presence of other microorganisms that interfere with phage isolation. Further studies are needed to investigate the potential reasons for the inability to purify the phages from the arctic marine samples.

A variety of environments, including the Dead Sea, ice-covered mountains, and Antarctic lakes, have been reported as possible phage-host habitats (Hofer & Sommaruga, 2001; Kepner Jr et al., 1998; Oren et al., 1997). Bacteriophages are believed to be a ubiquitous part of the marine environment with a constant temperature, which includes an environment with sea ice. Sea ice is known to contain high levels of viruses, according to Maranger et al. (1994) However, no viruses were isolated from this cold environment by this group. As viruses play a dynamic role in microbial communities at sea, their abundance changes over the season. Especially during the long winter period in the northern hemisphere, the dynamics of the phage-host relationship are less known. Nevertheless, both the abundance and diversity of the microbial community are subject to dramatic fluctuations (Niu et al., 2014). There is evidence that the viral community can also play a significant role in shaping the microbial community during the frosty winter months by being highly diverse and active. We know little about the physiological adaptations and peculiarities of psychrophilic phages, as well as their host specificity, phenotypic and genotypic diversity. Using the permanently cold environments of the Arctic Sea we describe the finding of cold-adapted phages using samples collected in Tromsø.

The transmission of viruses also play a significant role in the evolution of ecosystems and the diversity of their hosts (Suttle, 2007). Even though several studies have been conducted to understand the diversity of microbial populations in different environments, little information is available regarding the isolation and cultivation of bacteriophages living in the Arctic.

Articles describing viruses isolated from the polar regions and their biological characteristics are quite a few. A study by Olsen (1967) reported that psychrophilic bacteriophages had been isolated from seawater and sediment samples of a marine environment. A psychrotrophic bacterial species called Brochothrix thermospacta is lysed by cold-adapted phages which have been isolated from non-marine samples, such as refrigerated products (Greer, 1983). There is substantial evidence to suggest that viruses are widespread and abundant in Antarctic aquatic environments and that they are capable of changing their lifestyle in accordance with their microbial hosts, ranging from pseudo-lysogenic to lytic in response to climatic conditions that favor microbial growth (Anesio & Bellas, 2011; Säwström et al., 2008). There are numerous DNA viruses adapted to extreme conditions in Antarctica and the Arctic, including bacteriophages, circular ssDNA viruses, and algae phycodnaviruses. A study reported previously by Luhtanen et al. (2018) identifies a sensitive bacterial host that is capable of supporting the replication of a phage in the laboratory that was found in Antarctic water samples and sea ice samples. There have been only three virus-host systems isolated to date from the Arctic, while seven are from the Baltic Sea ice (Borriss et al., 2003; Luhtanen et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015).

There has been considerable research devoted to understanding the diversity of microbes on the sea, but little is known about the isolation and cultivation of bacteriophages from the Arctic. Based on the findings of this study, it is shown that psychrophilic phages can be found in the Arctic Sea ice and their presence is heavily dependent on low-temperature conditions to persist.

6.2 Isolation and Purification of Coliphages from Sewage

Coliphages were successfully isolated from Arctic sewage samples using an *E. coli* host bacterium and plaque assay. Five out of six sewage samples were tested positive for the presence of coliphages, with varying titers ranging from 2×10^{10} to 8×10^5 pfu/ml.

In general, the fecal contamination of wastewater causes a large diversity of coliforms to be present in sewage. As a result, sewage water contains enteric pathogens as it is a reservoir for them. As a result of biogeographic studies on bacteriophages, it has been proposed that bacteriophages are not equally abundant everywhere and that many factors affect phage numbers in the starting material of extraction (Abedon et al., 2017; Tan et al.,

2020), including temperature, the source of choice, disinfectant level in sewage, sewage flow rate, and exposure to sunlight or radiation. A wide variety of bacteriophages have been found to live in sewage water (Ballesté et al., 2022). The wastewater from hospitals can be considered a highly selective environment for the development of resistant bacteria (Mattila et al., 2015). In previous studies, it has been reported that phages specific to a wide range of bacteria were identified from wastewater samples, including E. coli; P. aeruginosa; Acinetobacter sp., Klebsiella sp., and Enterococcus faecalis (Aghaee et al., 2021; Del Rio et al., 2021; Grami et al., 2023; Kumari et al., 2010; Manohar et al., 2019; Martins et al., 2022). In our present study, it was found that ampicillin-resistant E. coli-specific phages were isolated successfully from sewage water collected from various sides of the WWTP in Brevika, Tromsø. In our wastewater, we are likely to find phages due to the presence of bacteria from the hospital setting. This overpopulation of bacteria leads to the availability of a huge range of hosts for all types of phages (Rasool et al., 2016). Samarahan (2020) conducted a study in Malaysia that demonstrated the ease with which phages can be isolated from sewage. In contrast, Mattila et al. (2015) found that it was challenging to isolate resistant phages from sewage drains in Finland. It is associated with host density as well as surrounding environmental conditions that bacteriophages can recover from and kill precise pathogenic bacteria (Echeverría-Vega et al., 2019).

This study isolated lytic bacteriophages against *E. coli* from sewage water and determined their titers. Following the presence of clear lysis zones against the host bacteria, all the phage isolates obtained with a slightly modified DAL method were identified as lytic phages shown in **Figure 8 - Figure 13**. During the phage purification process, all the phages except Ec42_SH23 exhibited similar types of plaque morphology e.g. round, clear, size; 1-4 mm. Grami et al. (2023) observed that *Escherichia* phage fBC-Eco01 isolated from a wastewater sample collected from Oued Borj Ecedria produced plaques with a diameter of 1.8 \pm 0.2 mm. A uniform plaque of approximately 1 mm in diameter is formed by both vB_Eco4M-7 and ECML-117 when applied to the O157:H7 (ST2–8624) strain of *E. coli* (Necel et al., 2020). In another study, Vahedi et al. (2018) isolated specific enteropathogenic *E. coli* phage from hospital sewage which displayed about 2-3 mm size of plaque on BHI agar. This larger plaque size in our study could be due to the extreme environment in the Arctic where organisms may evolve more efficiently to adapt to the conditions. Several factors determine how large the plaque will be, including how soon the bacteria in the agar Page | 51

will reach the stationary phase and stop reproducing, and its ultimate size, because phages can only reproduce in actively growing cells. Once this point has been reached, the plaques will cease to spread. Also, Abedon and Yin (2009) found that plaque size is associated with phage diffusivity. An increase in phage diffusion velocity leads to an increase in plaque size. The diffusion rate of phages is influenced by certain aspects of their properties, such as their diameter and whether they aggregate or not. Agar concentration in the overlay layer is also a factor. Serwer et al. (2007) reported that the initial isolation of Bacillus thuringiensis phage resulted in the production of small plaques (<1 mm) when using a 0.4% agarose overlay. However, the size of the plaques increased as the concentration of agarose gel decreased to 0.2%. Plaques were generated by the coliphage T4 across all agarose concentrations examined. Nevertheless, the size of the plaques decreased with increasing agarose concentration but eventually stabilized around 0.2% to 0.6% agarose (Serwer et al., 2007). This variation in plaque size could also be due to the antagonistic effect of the phages among them. Dominant phages inhibit the growth of others. This effect was highlighted in higher diluted plates where the small plaques (≤ 1 mm) appeared big, approximately 3-4 mm. However, round homogenized plaque formation appeared later.

A plaque assay demonstrated that the phage titers of the stocks obtained in this study were 2×10^{10} to 8×10^{10} pfu/ml with clear plaques. Similar results were reported by several previous studies (Maal et al., 2015; Montso et al., 2019; Niu et al., 2014; Perera et al., 2015; Qamar et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2018). Since phages with high titers are considered ideal from a phage therapy perspective, the phages isolated in this study have the potential to be ideal for therapeutic application.

6.3 Characterization Using TEM

Phage identification is best accomplished through negative staining of purified viruses and electron microscopy as there are no universally conserved genes like the 16S rRNA gene in bacteria or the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region in fungi that can serve as universal markers (Tan et al., 2020). Phages can be classified according to their morphological characteristics. Our TEM results revealed different morphotypes for the selected phage isolates of this study. The structure of isolated coliphages is characterized by the presence of icosahedral heads, long tails that are noncontractile, and extremely short tails. The phage isolates were categorized into the myovirus and podovirus morphology, based on their Page | 52 features (Ackermann, 2007). A study conducted by Zhang et al. (2021) also observed that phages infecting *E. Coli* O103, which produces Shiga toxin had similar morphological characteristics. On the other hand, Montso et al. (2019) reported myovirus characteristics of eight *E. coli* O177-specific phages. In addition, the traits mentioned resembled those exhibited by bacteriophages of *E. coli* that are similar to T1-7 (Harada et al., 2018; Truncaite et al., 2012). While significant progress has been made in studying coliphages, there has been a lack of specific focus on the isolation and characterization of arctic phages. However, the phage being investigated in this thesis is particularly noteworthy in this regard.

The electron micrograph of the FL54_SH22 phage (**Figure 14.B**) exhibited a unique round head with a short contractile tail-like morphology, which is distinct from previously described phages. This observation raises the possibility of a completely new phage with unique phenotypic characteristics. It is worth noting that the host bacterium used in this study was also novel, which could contribute to the distinct morphology of the phage. Holmfeldt et al. (2007) reported a similar phenotype for the phage φ 4:1, identified as a myovirus family member by TEM analysis using 2% sodium phosphotungstate staining. However, Borriss et al. (2003) isolated and characterized flavophages using *Flavobacterium hibernum* as a host from the Arctic sea ice and reported a siphovirus morphology from TEM analysis. Previous studies on flavophages from both marine and freshwater environments have reported diverse morphotypes, including siphovirus, myovirus, and podovirus (Bartlau et al., 2022; Holmfeldt et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 1998; Laanto et al., 2011). Nevertheless, further investigation is required to categorize the FL54_SH22 phage isolated in this study.

7 FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

In the future, the isolation and characterization of bacteriophages from arctic samples can be further explored to uncover new insights and potential applications in various fields. Here are some future perspectives that could be pursued:

- Biological characteristics of the phages: The isolated phages will be further characterized based on their host range, growth curves, and sensitivity to different parameters such as temperature, pH, etc.
- Full genome sequencing and genomic analysis: Through genomic analysis, the isolated phages can be further characterized, providing insights into their genetic diversity, evolution, and potential functional applications. This could lead to the discovery of new phage-encoded enzymes, toxins, or other biologically active compounds that could have potential biotechnological or therapeutic applications.
- Exploration of the Arctic Virome: While this study focused on the isolation and characterization of bacteriophages, future research can expand to explore the entire virome of the Arctic environment, including viruses that infect eukaryotic organisms. This could reveal new virus-host interactions and provide insights into the ecology and evolution of viruses in extreme environments.
- Applications in aquaculture and wastewater treatment: The isolated bacteriophages can be potentially applied in aquaculture, including their use as biocontrol agents in food and agricultural industries. Additionally, they could be used in WWTP to combat bacterial contamination in the environment. Future studies can investigate the efficacy of arctic phages in these applications and optimize their use.
- Phage therapy: The emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria has renewed interest in the use of bacteriophages as an alternative therapeutic option. Future studies can investigate the potential of arctic phages as candidates for phage therapy, including their safety, efficacy, and the development of phage cocktails to target multiple bacterial strains.

Overall, the isolation and characterization of bacteriophages from arctic samples is a promising avenue for future research, with potential applications in biotechnology, bioremediation, and phage therapy. Continued exploration of the arctic virome and the genetic

and functional diversity of arctic phages can lead to discoveries and opportunities for innovative solutions to global challenges.

8 CONCLUSIONS

A noteworthy feature of this research is that it is the first study in Norway to describe the isolation and characterization of phages from the Arctic Sea and sewage that are capable of effectively fight foodborne bacteria and Amp-resistant *E. coli*. This study focused on the isolation and characterization of bacteriophages from arctic sewage and sea samples. The main findings are that this study verified that the arctic environment harbors a diverse range of bacteriophages that can infect a variety of bacterial hosts. During the experiment, isolating and purifying marine phages was the most challenging part. While we were able to obtain some hints of their presence, the phages did not grow into full plaques on agar plates. Despite repeated attempts using different conditions and techniques, including different media formulations, we were unable to obtain pure phage cultures. Although this limits the conclusions that can be drawn from the study, the findings suggest that marine phages may have unique growth requirements that differ from those of previously studied phages. Further research is needed to explore these growth requirements and to develop methods for isolating and characterizing marine phages more effectively.

However, coliphages were easily isolated and subjected to TEM analysis. The results revealed the presence of caudovirus characteristics in the phages. The caudovirus family of phages is known for its characteristic morphology, which includes an icosahedral head, a contractile tail, and tail fibers. The identification of caudovirus characteristics in the isolated coliphages suggests that they belong to this family. This information provides valuable insights into the morphological properties of the isolated phages and can guide future research on their genome analysis.

Further, nucleic acid of coliphages was successfully extracted; but, due to time constraints, sequencing has not yet been performed. However, they will be subjected to sequencing analysis to gain insights into their genetic makeup and potential applications. The sequencing results can provide information on the genome size, gene content, and phylogenetic relationships of the isolated coliphages. Future research can further explore the genetic and functional diversity of arctic phages and their interactions with bacterial hosts, as well as their potential as alternatives to antibiotics in the face of antibiotic resistance.

Overall, this study contributes to our understanding of the diversity and ecology of bacteriophages in extreme environments and provides insights into their potential applications in biotechnology and healthcare. Two different but important groups of phages were studied from samples obtained in the Tromsø region: the challenging-to-grow and environmentally relevant marine phages, and the conventional and clinically important sewage phages.

9 REFERENCES

- Abedon, S. T. (2008). *Bacteriophage ecology: population growth, evolution, and impact of bacterial viruses* (Vol. 15). Cambridge University Press.
- Abedon, S. T., García, P., Mullany, P., & Aminov, R. (2017). Phage therapy: past, present and future. In (Vol. 8, pp. 981): Frontiers Media SA.
- Abedon, S. T., & Yin, J. (2009). Bacteriophage plaques: theory and analysis. Bacteriophages: Methods and Protocols, Volume 1: Isolation, Characterization, and Interactions, 161-174.
- Ackerman, H., & DuBow, M. (1987). Viruses of prokaryotes. General properties of bacteriophages, 1, 49-85.
- Ackermann, H.-W. (2007). 5500 Phages examined in the electron microscope. Archives of virology, 152, 227-243.
- Adams, M. H. (1959). Bacteriophages. Bacteriophages.
- Aghaee, B. L., Mirzaei, M. K., Alikhani, M. Y., & Mojtahedi, A. (2021). Sewage and sewage-contaminated environments are the most prominent sources to isolate phages against Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *BMC microbiology*, 21(1), 1-8.
- Allen, L. Z., Ishoey, T., Novotny, M. A., McLean, J. S., Lasken, R. S., & Williamson, S. J. (2011). Single virus genomics: a new tool for virus discovery. *PloS one*, 6(3), e17722.
- Alonso, J. C., Lüder, G., Stiege, A. C., Chai, S., Weise, F., & Trautner, T. A. (1997). The complete nucleotide sequence and functional organization of Bacillus subtilis bacteriophage SPP1. *Gene*, 204(1-2), 201-212.
- Anesio, A. M., & Bellas, C. M. (2011). Are low temperature habitats hot spots of microbial evolution driven by viruses? *Trends in microbiology*, *19*(2), 52-57.
- Angly, F. E., Felts, B., Breitbart, M., Salamon, P., Edwards, R. A., Carlson, C., Chan, A. M., Haynes, M., Kelley, S., Liu, H., Mahaffy, J. M., Mueller, J. E., Nulton, J., Olson, R., Parsons, R., Rayhawk, S., Suttle, C. A., & Rohwer, F. (2006). The marine viromes of four oceanic regions. *PLoS Biol*, 4(11), e368. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0040368
- Bailey, S., Clokie, M. R., Millard, A., & Mann, N. H. (2004). Cyanophage infection and photoinhibition in marine cyanobacteria. *Research in Microbiology*, *155*(9), 720-725.
- Ballesté, E., Blanch, A. R., Muniesa, M., García-Aljaro, C., Rodríguez-Rubio, L., Martín-Díaz, J., Pascual-Benito, M., & Jofre, J. (2022). Bacteriophages in sewage: abundance, roles, and applications. *FEMS Microbes*, 3.
- Barksdale, L., & Arden, S. B. (1974). Persisting bacteriophage infections, lysogeny, and phage conversions. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 28(1), 265-300.
- Bartlau, N., Wichels, A., Krohne, G., Adriaenssens, E. M., Heins, A., Fuchs, B. M., Amann, R., & Moraru, C. (2022). Highly diverse flavobacterial phages isolated from North Sea spring blooms. *The ISME journal*, 16(2), 555-568.
- Baudoux, A. C., Hendrix, R., Lander, G., Bailly, X., Podell, S., Paillard, C., Johnson, J., Potter, C., Carragher, B., & Azam, F. (2012). Genomic and functional analysis of Vibrio phage SIO - 2 reveals novel insights into ecology and evolution of marine siphoviruses. *Environmental microbiology*, 14(8), 2071-2086.
- Bayat, F., Didar, T. F., & Hosseinidoust, Z. (2021). Emerging investigator series: bacteriophages as nano engineering tools for quality monitoring and pathogen detection in water and wastewater. *Environmental Science: Nano*, 8(2), 367-389.

- Bergh, O., Borsheim, K. Y., Bratbak, G., & Heldal, M. (1989). High Abundance of Viruses Found in Aquatic Environments. *Nature*, 340(6233), 467-468. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1038/340467a0
- Bibby, K. (2014). Improved bacteriophage genome data is necessary for integrating viral and bacterial ecology. *Microbial ecology*, 67, 242-244.
- Bonilla, N., Santiago, T., Marcos, P., Urdaneta, M., Domingo, J. S., & Toranzos, G. (2010). Enterophages, a group of phages infecting Enterococcus faecalis, and their potential as alternate indicators of human faecal contamination. *Water Science and Technology*, 61(2), 293-300.
- Borriss, M., Helmke, E., Hanschke, R., & Schweder, T. (2003). Isolation and characterization of marine psychrophilic phage-host systems from Arctic sea ice. *Extremophiles*, *7*, 377-384.
- Borriss, M., Lombardot, T., Glöckner, F. O., Becher, D., Albrecht, D., & Schweder, T. (2007). Genome and proteome characterization of the psychrophilic Flavobacterium bacteriophage 11b. *Extremophiles*, 11, 95-104.
- Breitbart, M., Bonnain, C., Malki, K., & Sawaya, N. A. (2018). Phage puppet masters of the marine microbial realm. *Nat Microbiol*, *3*(7), 754-766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-018-0166-y</u>
- Breitbart, M., & Rohwer, F. (2005). Here a virus, there a virus, everywhere the same virus? *Trends in microbiology*, *13*(6), 278-284.
- Breitbart, M., Salamon, P., Andresen, B., Mahaffy, J. M., Segall, A. M., Mead, D., Azam, F., & Rohwer, F. (2002). Genomic analysis of uncultured marine viral communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(22), 14250-14255.
- Brenner, S., & Horne, R. (1959). A negative staining method for high resolution electron microscopy of viruses. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, *34*, 103-110.
- Brown, M., Baptista, J., Lunn, M., Swan, D., Smith, S., Davenport, R., Allen, B., Sloan, W., & Curtis, T. (2019). Coupled virus-bacteria interactions and ecosystem function in an engineered microbial system. *Water research*, 152, 264-273.
- Brum, J. R., Schenck, R. O., & Sullivan, M. B. (2013). Global morphological analysis of marine viruses shows minimal regional variation and dominance of non-tailed viruses. *The ISME journal*, 7(9), 1738-1751.
- Brüssow, H., Kutter, E., & Sulakvelidze, A. (2005). Genomics and evolution of tailed phages. Bacteriophages: Biology and applications, 91-128.
- Canchaya, C., Proux, C., Fournous, G., Bruttin, A., & Brüssow, H. (2003). Prophage genomics. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 67(2), 238-276.
- Cantalupo, P., Calgua, B., Zhao, G., Hundesa, A., Wier, A., Katz, J., Grabe, M., Hendrix, R., Girones, R., & Wang, D. (2011). Raw sewage harbors diverse viral populations. mBio 2: e00180–e00111. In.
- Carey-Smith, G. V., Billington, C., Cornelius, A. J., Hudson, J. A., & Heinemann, J. A. (2006). Isolation and characterization of bacteriophages infecting Salmonella spp. *FEMS microbiology letters*, 258(2), 182-186.
- Carlton, R. M. (1999). Phage therapy: past history and future prospects. *ARCHIVUM IMMUNOLOGIAE ET THERAPIAE EXPERIMENTALIS-ENGLISH EDITION-*, 47, 267-274.
- Cavenagh, M. M., & Miller, R. V. (1986). Specialized transduction of Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO by bacteriophage D3. *Journal of bacteriology*, *165*(2), 448-452.

- Chenard, C., & Suttle, C. (2008). Phylogenetic diversity of sequences of cyanophage photosynthetic gene psbA in marine and freshwaters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(17), 5317-5324.
- Clasen, J., Brigden, S., Payet, J., & Suttle, C. (2008). Viral abundance across marine and freshwater. systems is driven by different biological factors. *Freshw. Biol*, 53, 1090-1100.
- Clokie, M. R., Shan, J., Bailey, S., Jia, Y., Krisch, H. M., West, S., & Mann, N. H. (2006). Transcription of a 'photosynthetic' T4 - type phage during infection of a marine cyanobacterium. *Environmental microbiology*, 8(5), 827-835.
- Colombet, J., Robin, A., Lavie, L., Bettarel, Y., Cauchie, H., & Sime-Ngando, T. (2007).
 Virioplankton 'pegylation': use of PEG (polyethylene glycol) to concentrate and purify viruses in pelagic ecosystems. *Journal of microbiological methods*, 71(3), 212-219.
- Cram, J. A., Parada, A. E., & Fuhrman, J. A. (2016). Dilution reveals how viral lysis and grazing shape microbial communities. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *61*(3), 889-905.
- Culley, A. I., Lang, A. S., & Suttle, C. A. (2007). The complete genomes of three viruses assembled from shotgun libraries of marine RNA virus communities. *Virology journal*, 4(1), 1-9.
- Danovaro, R., Dell'anno, A., Trucco, A., Serresi, M., & Vanucci, S. (2001). Determination of virus abundance in marine sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(3), 1384-1387. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Aem.67.3.1384-1387.2001
- de Freitas Almeida, G. M., & Sundberg, L.-R. (2020). The forgotten tale of Brazilian phage therapy. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 20(5), e90-e101.
- Del Rio, B., Sánchez-Llana, E., Martínez, N., Fernández, M., Ladero, V., & Alvarez, M. A. (2021). Isolation and characterization of Enterococcus faecalis-infecting bacteriophages from different cheese types. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 3409.
- Deresinski, S. (2009). Bacteriophage therapy: exploiting smaller fleas. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 48(8), 1096-1101.
- Dyson, Z. A., Brown, T. L., Farrar, B., Doyle, S. R., Tucci, J., Seviour, R. J., & Petrovski, S. (2016). Locating and activating molecular 'time bombs': Induction of Mycolata prophages. *PloS one*, 11(8), e0159957.
- Dyson, Z. A., Tucci, J., Seviour, R. J., & Petrovski, S. (2015). Three of a kind: Genetically similar Tsukamurella phages TIN2, TIN3, and TIN4. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 81(19), 6767-6772.
- Echeverría-Vega, A., Morales-Vicencio, P., Saez-Saavedra, C., Gordillo-Fuenzalida, F., & Araya, R. (2019). A rapid and simple protocol for the isolation of bacteriophages from coastal organisms. *MethodsX*, *6*, 2614-2619.
- Edlin, G., Lin, L., & Kudrna, R. (1975). λ lysogens of E. coli reproduce more rapidly than non-lysogens. *Nature*, *255*(5511), 735-737.
- Edwards, R. A., & Rohwer, F. (2005). Viral metagenomics. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *3*(6), 504-510.
- Essoh, C., Latino, L., Midoux, C., Blouin, Y., Loukou, G., Nguetta, S.-P. A., Lathro, S., Cablanmian, A., Kouassi, A. K., & Vergnaud, G. (2015). Investigation of a large collection of Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteriophages collected from a single environmental source in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire. *PloS one*, *10*(6), e0130548.
- Filée, J., Tétart, F., Suttle, C. A., & Krisch, H. (2005). Marine T4-type bacteriophages, a ubiquitous component of the dark matter of the biosphere. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(35), 12471-12476.

- Frye, J. G., Porwollik, S., Blackmer, F., Cheng, P., & McClelland, M. (2005). Host gene expression changes and DNA amplification during temperate phage induction. *Journal of bacteriology*, 187(4), 1485-1492.
- Fuhrman, J. (1992). Bacterioplankton roles in cycling of organic matter: the microbial food web. *Primary productivity and biogeochemical cycles in the sea*, 361-383.
- García Aljaro, C., Blanch, A., Campos, C., Jofre, J., & Lucena, F. (2019). Pathogens, faecal indicators and human specific microbial source tracking markers in sewage. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *126*(3), 701-717.
- Gordillo Altamirano, F. L., & Barr, J. J. (2019). Phage therapy in the postantibiotic era. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, *32*(2), e00066-00018.
- Grami, E., Badawy, S., Kiljunen, S., Saidi, N., & Skurnik, M. (2023). Characterization and genome analysis of Escherichia phage fBC-Eco01, isolated from wastewater in Tunisia. Archives of virology, 168(2), 44.
- Greer, G. G. (1983). Psychrotrophic Brocothrix thermosphacta bacteriophages isolated from beef. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *46*(1), 245-251.
- Gulino, K., Rahman, J., Badri, M., Morton, J., Bonneau, R., & Ghedin, E. (2020). Initial mapping of the New York City wastewater virome. *Msystems*, *5*(3), e00876-00819.
- Hambly, E., & Suttle, C. A. (2005). The viriosphere, diversity, and genetic exchange within phage communities. *Current opinion in microbiology*, *8*(4), 444-450.
- Hara, S., Terauchi, K., & Koike, I. (1991). Abundance of Viruses in Marine Waters -Assessment by Epifluorescence and Transmission Electron-Microscopy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 57(9), 2731-2734. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Aem.57.9.2731-2734.1991
- Harada, L. K., Silva, E. C., Campos, W. F., Del Fiol, F. S., Vila, M., Dąbrowska, K., Krylov, V. N., & Balcão, V. M. (2018). Biotechnological applications of bacteriophages: State of the art. *Microbiological research*, 212, 38-58.
- Helton, R. R., Liu, L., & Wommack, K. E. (2006). Assessment of factors influencing direct enumeration of viruses within estuarine sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(7), 4767-4774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/Aem.00297-06</u>
- Hendrix, R. W., Hatfull, G. F., Ford, M. E., Smith, M. C., & Burns, R. N. (2002). Evolutionary relationships among diverse bacteriophages and prophages: all the world's a phage. In *Horizontal gene transfer* (pp. 133-VI). Elsevier.
- Hennes, K. P., & Suttle, C. A. (1995). Direct Counts of Viruses in Natural-Waters and Laboratory Cultures by Epifluorescence Microscopy. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 40(6), 1050-1055. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.4319/lo.1995.40.6.1050
- Hofer, J. S., & Sommaruga, R. (2001). Seasonal dynamics of viruses in an alpine lake: importance of filamentous forms. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 26(1), 1-11.
- Holmes, R. K., & Barksdale, L. (1970). Comparative studies with tox+ and tox-Corynebacteriophages. *Journal of Virology*, 5(6), 783-794.
- Holmfeldt, K., Middelboe, M., Nybroe, O., & Riemann, L. (2007). Large variabilities in host strain susceptibility and phage host range govern interactions between lytic marine phages and their Flavobacterium hosts. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(21), 6730-6739.
- Hoyles, L., McCartney, A. L., Neve, H., Gibson, G. R., Sanderson, J. D., Heller, K. J., & van Sinderen, D. (2014). Characterization of virus-like particles associated with the human faecal and caecal microbiota. *Research in Microbiology*, 165(10), 803-812.

- Hugenholtz, P., Goebel, B. M., & Pace, N. R. (1998). Impact of culture-independent studies on the emerging phylogenetic view of bacterial diversity. *Journal of bacteriology*, *180*(18), 4765-4774.
- Hurst, C. J. (2011). An introduction to viral taxonomy with emphasis on microbial and botanical hosts and the proposal of Akamara, a potential domain for the genomic acellular agents. *Studies in viral ecology: microbial and botanical host systems*, *1*, 41-65.
- Hyman, P., & Abedon, S. T. (2008). Phage ecology of bacterial pathogenesis. *Bacteriophage* ecology, 353-385.
- Ignacio-Espinoza, J. C., Solonenko, S. A., & Sullivan, M. B. (2013). The global virome: not as big as we thought? *Current opinion in virology*, *3*(5), 566-571.
- Ivánovics, G., Gaál, V., Nagy, E., Prágai, B., & Simon Jr, M. (1976). Studies on megacinogeny in Bacillus cereus. II. Bacillus cereus isolates characterized by prophage-controlled production of megacin A (phospholipase A). Acta Microbiologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae, 23(3), 283-291.
- Jassim, S. A., Limoges, R. G., & El-Cheikh, H. (2016). Bacteriophage biocontrol in wastewater treatment. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *32*(4), 70.
- Jault, P., Leclerc, T., Jennes, S., Pirnay, J. P., Que, Y.-A., Resch, G., Rousseau, A. F., Ravat, F., Carsin, H., & Le Floch, R. (2019). Efficacy and tolerability of a cocktail of bacteriophages to treat burn wounds infected by Pseudomonas aeruginosa (PhagoBurn): a randomised, controlled, double-blind phase 1/2 trial. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 19(1), 35-45.
- Jebri, S., Muniesa, M., & Jofre, J. (2017). General and host-associated bacteriophage indicators of faecal pollution. *Global Water Pathogens Project*, <u>http://www</u>. waterpathogens. org (Farnleitner, A. & Blanch, A.(eds) Part 2 Indicators and Microbial Source Tracking Markers), <u>http://www</u>. waterpathogens. org/book/coliphage Michigan State University, E. Lansing, MI, UNESCO.
- Jenkins, D., Richard, M. G., & Daigger, G. T. (2003). Manual on the causes and control of activated sludge bulking, foaming, and other solids separation problems. Crc Press.
- Jiang, S. C., Kellogg, C. A., & Paul, J. H. (1998). Characterization of marine temperate phage-host systems isolated from Mamala Bay, Oahu, Hawaii. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *64*(2), 535-542.
- Ju, F., & Zhang, T. (2015). Bacterial assembly and temporal dynamics in activated sludge of a full-scale municipal wastewater treatment plant. *The ISME journal*, 9(3), 683-695.
- Karaolis, D. K., Somara, S., Maneval Jr, D. R., Johnson, J. A., & Kaper, J. B. (1999). A bacteriophage encoding a pathogenicity island, a type-IV pilus and a phage receptor in cholera bacteria. *Nature*, *399*(6734), 375-379.
- Koch, A. (1979). Microbial growth in low concentrations of nutrients. *Strategies of microbial life in extreme environments*, 261-279.
- Kokjohn, T. A., & Sayler, G. S. (1991). Attachment and replication of Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteriophages under conditions simulating aquatic environments. *Microbiology*, 137(3), 661-666.
- Kristensen, D. M., Mushegian, A. R., Dolja, V. V., & Koonin, E. V. (2010). New dimensions of the virus world discovered through metagenomics. *Trends in microbiology*, *18*(1), 11-19.
- Kumari, S., Harjai, K., & Chhibber, S. (2010). Isolation and characterization of Klebsiella pneumoniae specific bacteriophages from sewage samples. *Folia microbiologica*, 55, 221-227.

- Laanto, E., Sundberg, L.-R., & Bamford, J. K. (2011). Phage specificity of the freshwater fish pathogen Flavobacterium columnare. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(21), 7868-7872.
- Labonté, J. M., & Suttle, C. A. (2013). Previously unknown and highly divergent ssDNA viruses populate the oceans. *The ISME journal*, 7(11), 2169-2177.
- Lang, A. S., Rise, M. L., Culley, A. I., & Steward, G. F. (2009). RNA viruses in the sea. *Fems Microbiology Reviews*, 33(2), 295-323.
- Lang, A. S., Zhaxybayeva, O., & Beatty, J. T. (2012). Gene transfer agents: phage-like elements of genetic exchange. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *10*(7), 472-482.
- Lebaron, P., Servais, P., Agogue, H., Courties, C., & Joux, F. (2001). Does the high nucleic acid content of individual bacterial cells allow us to discriminate between active cells and inactive cells in aquatic systems? *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(4), 1775-1782. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Aem.67.4.1775-1782.2001
- Lindell, D., Jaffe, J. D., Johnson, Z. I., Church, G. M., & Chisholm, S. W. (2005). Photosynthesis genes in marine viruses yield proteins during host infection. *Nature*, 438(7064), 86-89.
- Lindell, D., Sullivan, M. B., Johnson, Z. I., Tolonen, A. C., Rohwer, F., & Chisholm, S. W. (2004). Transfer of photosynthesis genes to and from Prochlorococcus viruses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(30), 11013-11018.
- Liu, M., Gill, J. J., Young, R., & Summer, E. J. (2015). Bacteriophages of wastewater foaming-associated filamentous Gordonia reduce host levels in raw activated sludge. *Scientific reports*, *5*(1), 1-13.
- Liu, R., Qi, R., Wang, J., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., Rossetti, S., Tandoi, V., & Yang, M. (2017). Phage-host associations in a full-scale activated sludge plant during sludge bulking. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, *101*, 6495-6504.
- Longnecker, K., Homen, D. S., Sherr, E. B., & Sherr, B. F. (2006). Similar community structure of biosynthetically active prokaryotes across a range of ecosystem trophic states. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 42(3), 265-276. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.3354/ame042265
- Luhtanen, A.-M., Eronen-Rasimus, E., Kaartokallio, H., Rintala, J.-M., Autio, R., & Roine, E. (2014). Isolation and characterization of phage–host systems from the Baltic Sea ice. *Extremophiles*, *18*, 121-130.
- Luhtanen, A.-M., Eronen-Rasimus, E., Oksanen, H. M., Tison, J.-L., Delille, B., Dieckmann, G. S., Rintala, J.-M., & Bamford, D. H. (2018). The first known virus isolates from Antarctic sea ice have complex infection patterns. *FEMS microbiology ecology*, 94(4), fiy028.
- Maal, K. B., Delfan, A. S., & Salmanizadeh, S. (2015). Isolation and identification of two novel Escherichia coli bacteriophages and their application in wastewater treatment and coliform's phage therapy. *Jundishapur journal of microbiology*, 8(3).
- Mahenthiralingam, E. (2004). Gene associations in bacterial pathogenesis: pathogenicity islands and genomic deletions. *Microbial Evolution: Gene establishment, survival, and exchange*, 249-274.
- Mann, N. H., Cook, A., Millard, A., Bailey, S., & Clokie, M. (2003). Bacterial photosynthesis genes in a virus. *Nature*, 424(6950), 741-741.
- Manohar, P., Tamhankar, A. J., Lundborg, C. S., & Nachimuthu, R. (2019). Therapeutic characterization and efficacy of bacteriophage cocktails infecting Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, and Enterobacter species. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *10*, 574.

- Martinez-Molina, E., & Olivares, J. (1979). Antibiotic production by Pseudomonas reptilivora as a phage conversion. *Canadian journal of microbiology*, 25(9), 1108-1110.
- Martins, A. M., Pagilla, K., Heijnen, J. J., & van Loosdrecht, M. C. (2004). Filamentous bulking sludge—a critical review. *Water research*, *38*(4), 793-817.
- Martins, W. M., Cino, J., Lenzi, M. H., Sands, K., Portal, E., Hassan, B., Dantas, P. P., Migliavacca, R., Medeiros, E. A., & Gales, A. C. (2022). Diversity of lytic bacteriophages against XDR Klebsiella pneumoniae sequence type 16 recovered from sewage samples in different parts of the world. *Science of the Total Environment*, 839, 156074.
- Mattila, S., Ruotsalainen, P., & Jalasvuori, M. (2015). On-demand isolation of bacteriophages against drug-resistant bacteria for personalized phage therapy. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *6*, 1271.
- Maurice, C. F., Bouvier, T., Comte, J., Guillemette, F., & Del Giorgio, P. (2010). Seasonal variations of phage life strategies and bacterial physiological states in three northern temperate lakes. *Environmental microbiology*, *12*(3), 628-641.
- Middelboe, M., Nielsen, T. G., & Bjørnsen, P. K. (2002). Viral and bacterial production in the North Water: in situ measurements, batch-culture experiments and characterization and distribution of a virus-host system. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 49(22-23), 5063-5079.
- Miller, R., & Ripp, S. (1998). The importance of pseudolysogeny to in situ bacteriophagehost interactions. *Horizontal Gene Transfer (Syvanen, M. & Kado, CI, Eds)*, 179-191.
- Miller, R., Ripp, S., Replicon, J., Ogunseitan, O., & Kokjohn, T. (1992). Virus-mediated gene transfer in freshwater environments. Gene Transfers and Environment: Proceedings of the Third European Meeting on Bacterial Genetics and Ecology (BAGECO-3), 20–22 November 1991, Villefranche-sur-Mer, France,
- Miller, R. V. (1998). Bacterial gene swapping in nature. Scientific American, 278(1), 66-71.
- Miller, R. V. (2004). Bacteriophage mediated transduction: an engine for change and evolution. *Microbial Evolution: Gene establishment, survival, and exchange*, 144-157.
- Miller, R. V. (2006). Marine phages. *The Bacteriophages, 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, New York, NY*, 534-544.
- Miller, R. V., & Day, M. (2008). Contribution of lysogeny, pseudolysogeny, and starvation to phage ecology. *Bacteriophage ecology*, *114*, 143.
- Miller, R. V., & Ripp, S. A. (2002). Pseudolysogeny: a bacteriophage strategy for increasing longevity in situ. In *Horizontal Gene Transfer* (pp. 81-91). Elsevier.
- Moebus, K., & Nattkemper, H. (1983). Taxonomic investigations of bacteriophage sensitive bacteria isolated from marine waters. *Helgoländer Meeresuntersuchungen*, *36*, 357-373.
- Montso, P. K., Mlambo, V., & Ateba, C. N. (2019). Characterization of lytic bacteriophages infecting multidrug-resistant shiga toxigenic atypical Escherichia coli O177 strains isolated from cattle feces. *Frontiers in public health*, *7*, 355.
- Moran, N. A. (2007). Symbiosis as an adaptive process and source of phenotypic complexity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *104*(suppl_1), 8627-8633.
- Morita, R. Y. (1997). Bacteria in oligotrophic environments. Chapman & Hall, New York.
- Muniesa, M., Mocé-Llivina, L., Katayama, H., & Jofre, J. (2003). Bacterial host strains that support replication of somatic coliphages. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, *83*, 305-315.
- Muniesa, M., Serra Moreno, R., & Jofre, J. (2004). Free Shiga toxin bacteriophages isolated from sewage showed diversity although the stx genes appeared conserved. *Environmental microbiology*, 6(7), 716-725.
- Murray, C. J., Ikuta, K. S., Sharara, F., Swetschinski, L., Aguilar, G. R., Gray, A., Han, C., Bisignano, C., Rao, P., & Wool, E. (2022). Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. *The Lancet*, *399*(10325), 629-655.
- Nasser, A., Azizian, R., Tabasi, M., Khezerloo, J. K., Heravi, F. S., Kalani, M. T., Sadeghifard, N., Amini, R., Pakzad, I., & Radmanesh, A. (2019). Specification of bacteriophage isolated against clinical methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus. *Osong public health and research perspectives*, 10(1), 20.
- Necel, A., Bloch, S., Nejman-Faleńczyk, B., Grabski, M., Topka, G., Dydecka, A., Kosznik-Kwaśnicka, K., Grabowski, Ł., Jurczak-Kurek, A., & Wołkowicz, T. (2020). Characterization of a bacteriophage, vB_Eco4M-7, that effectively infects many Escherichia coli O157 strains. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 1-14.
- Niu, Y. D., McAllister, T. A., Nash, J. H., Kropinski, A. M., & Stanford, K. (2014). Four Escherichia coli O157: H7 phages: a new bacteriophage genus and taxonomic classification of T1-like phages. *PloS one*, 9(6), e100426.
- Noble, R. T., & Fuhrman, J. A. (1998). Use of SYBR Green I for rapid epifluorescence counts of marine viruses and bacteria. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, *14*(2), 113-118. https://doi.org/DOI 10.3354/ame014113
- Nobrega, F. L., Vlot, M., de Jonge, P. A., Dreesens, L. L., Beaumont, H. J., Lavigne, R., Dutilh, B. E., & Brouns, S. J. (2018). Targeting mechanisms of tailed bacteriophages. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *16*(12), 760-773.
- Olsen, R. H. (1967). Isolation and growth of psychrophilic bacteriophage. *Applied Microbiology*, *15*(1), 198.
- Ortmann, A. C., Lawrence, J., & Suttle, C. A. (2002). Lysogeny and lytic viral production during a bloom of the cyanobacterium Synechococcus spp. *Microbial ecology*, 225-231.
- Ortmann, A. C., & Suttle, C. A. (2005). High abundances of viruses in a deep-sea hydrothermal vent system indicates viral mediated microbial mortality. *Deep-Sea Research Part I-Oceanographic Research Papers*, 52(8), 1515-1527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2005.04.002
- Otawa, K., Lee, S. H., Yamazoe, A., Onuki, M., Satoh, H., & Mino, T. (2007). Abundance, diversity, and dynamics of viruses on microorganisms in activated sludge processes. *Microbial ecology*, *53*, 143-152.
- Parada, V., Sintes, E., van Aken, H. M., Weinbauer, M. G., & Herndl, G. J. (2007). Viral abundance, decay, and diversity in the meso- and bathypelagic waters of the North Atlantic. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(14), 4429-4438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/Aem.00029-07</u>
- Payan, A., Ebdon, J., Taylor, H., Gantzer, C., Ottoson, J., Papageorgiou, G. T., Blanch, A. R., Lucena, F., Jofre, J., & Muniesa, M. (2005). Method for isolation of Bacteroides bacteriophage host strains suitable for tracking sources of fecal pollution in water. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(9), 5659-5662.
- Payet, J. P., & Suttle, C. A. (2008). Physical and biological correlates of virus dynamics in the southern Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf. *Journal of Marine Systems*, 74(3-4), 933-945.
- Perera, M. N., Abuladze, T., Li, M., Woolston, J., & Sulakvelidze, A. (2015). Bacteriophage cocktail significantly reduces or eliminates Listeria monocytogenes contamination on lettuce, apples, cheese, smoked salmon and frozen foods. *Food microbiology*, 52, 42-48.

- Petrovski, S., Dyson, Z. A., Quill, E. S., McIlroy, S. J., Tillett, D., & Seviour, R. J. (2011). An examination of the mechanisms for stable foam formation in activated sludge systems. *Water research*, *45*(5), 2146-2154.
- Petrovski, S., Tillett, D., & Seviour, R. J. (2012). Isolation and complete genome sequence of a bacteriophage lysing Tetrasphaera jenkinsii, a filamentous bacteria responsible for bulking in activated sludge. *Virus Genes*, 45, 380-388.
- Proctor, L. M., & Fuhrman, J. A. (1990). Viral mortality of marine bacteria and cyanobacteria. *Nature*, *343*(6253), 60-62.
- Ptashne, M. (2004). *A genetic switch: phage lambda revisited* (Vol. 3). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- Qamar, H., Owais, M., Chauhan, D. K., & Rehman, S. (2019). Isolation of bacteriophages from untreated sewage water against multi-drug resistant E. coli-An initiative to fight against drug resistance.
- Rasool, M. H., Yousaf, R., Siddique, A. B., Saqalein, M., & Khurshid, M. (2016). Isolation, characterization, and antibacterial activity of bacteriophages against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in Pakistan. *Jundishapur journal of microbiology*, *9*(10).
- Replicon, J., Frankfater, A., & Miller, R. V. (1995). A continuous culture model to examine factors that affect transduction among Pseudomonas aeruginosa strains in freshwater environments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *61*(9), 3359-3366.
- Ripp, S., & Miller, R. V. (1997). The role of pseudolysogeny in bacteriophage-host interactions in a natural freshwater environment. *Microbiology*, 143(6), 2065-2070.
- Ripp, S., & Miller, R. V. (1998). Dynamics of the pseudolysogenic response in slowly growing cells of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Microbiology*, 144(8), 2225-2232.
- Rocha, E. P., Danchin, A., & Viari, A. (2001). Evolutionary role of restriction/modification systems as revealed by comparative genome analysis. *Genome research*, 11(6), 946-958.
- Rodriguez-Brito, B., Li, L., Wegley, L., Furlan, M., Angly, F., Breitbart, M., Buchanan, J., Desnues, C., Dinsdale, E., & Edwards, R. (2010). Viral and microbial community dynamics in four aquatic environments. *The ISME journal*, 4(6), 739-751.
- Rohwer, F., & Edwards, R. (2002). The Phage Proteomic Tree: a genome-based taxonomy for phage. *Journal of bacteriology*, *184*(16), 4529-4535.
- Rosario, K., Duffy, S., & Breitbart, M. (2009). Diverse circovirus-like genome architectures revealed by environmental metagenomics. *Journal of General Virology*, 90(10), 2418-2424.
- Roux, S., & Brum, J. R. (2018). A viral reckoning: Viruses emerge as essential manipulators of global ecosystems. *Environmental microbiology reports*, 11(1).
- Roux, S., Enault, F., Robin, A., Ravet, V., Personnic, S., Theil, S., Colombet, J., Sime-Ngando, T., & Debroas, D. (2012). Assessing the diversity and specificity of two freshwater viral communities through metagenomics. *PloS one*, 7(3), e33641.
- Samarahan, K. (2020). Could bacteriophages isolated from the sewage be the solution to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus? *Med J Malaysia*, 75(2), 111.
- Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., & Maniatis, T. (1989). *Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual*. Cold spring harbor laboratory press.
- Säwström, C., Laybourn-Parry, J., Granéli, W., & Anesio, A. (2007). Heterotrophic bacterial and viral dynamics in Arctic freshwaters: results from a field study and nutrient-temperature manipulation experiments. *Polar Biology*, *30*, 1407-1415.

- Säwström, C., Lisle, J., Anesio, A. M., Priscu, J. C., & Laybourn-Parry, J. (2008). Bacteriophage in polar inland waters. *Extremophiles*, *12*, 167-175.
- Säwström, C., Mumford, P., Marshall, W., Hodson, A., & Laybourn-Parry, J. (2002). The microbial communities and primary productivity of cryoconite holes in an Arctic glacier (Svalbard 79 N). *Polar Biology*, 25, 591-596.
- Saye, D. (1989). The aquatic environment: consideration of horizontal gene transmission in a diversified habitat. *Gene transfer in the environment*.
- Saye, D. J., Ogunseitan, O., Sayler, G., & Miller, R. V. (1987). Potential for transduction of plasmids in a natural freshwater environment: effect of plasmid donor concentration and a natural microbial community on transduction in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 53(5), 987-995.
- Serwer, P., Hayes, S. J., Thomas, J. A., & Hardies, S. C. (2007). Propagating the missing bacteriophages: a large bacteriophage in a new class. *Virology journal*, 4(1), 1-5.
- Seymour, J. R., Seuront, L., Doubell, M., Waters, R. L., & Mitchell, J. G. (2006). Microscale patchiness of virioplankton. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 86(3), 551-561. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1017/S0025315406013464
- Shapiro, O. H., & Kushmaro, A. (2011). Bacteriophage ecology in environmental biotechnology processes. *Current opinion in biotechnology*, 22(3), 449-455.
- Sherr, C. J. (2006). Divorcing ARF and p53: an unsettled case. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 6(9), 663-673.
- Short, C. M., & Suttle, C. A. (2005). Nearly identical bacteriophage structural gene sequences are widely distributed in both marine and freshwater environments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(1), 480-486.
- Sime-Ngando, T. (2014). Environmental bacteriophages: viruses of microbes in aquatic ecosystems. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 355
- 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00355
- Sime-Ngando, T., & Colombet, J. (2009). Virus et prophages dans les écosystèmes aquatiques. *Canadian journal of microbiology*, 55(2), 95-109.
- Simon, C., & Daniel, R. (2011). Metagenomic analyses: past and future trends. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(4), 1153-1161.
- Spencer, R. (1955). A marine bacteriophage. Nature, 175(4459), 690-691.
- Steward, G. F., Culley, A. I., Mueller, J. A., Wood-Charlson, E. M., Belcaid, M., & Poisson, G. (2013). Are we missing half of the viruses in the ocean? *The ISME journal*, 7(3), 672-679.
- Steward, G. F., Smith, D. C., & Azam, F. (1996). Abundance and production of bacteria and viruses in the Bering and Chukchi Seas. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 131, 287-300.
- Sullivan, M. B., Huang, K. H., Ignacio Espinoza, J. C., Berlin, A. M., Kelly, L., Weigele, P. R., DeFrancesco, A. S., Kern, S. E., Thompson, L. R., & Young, S. (2010). Genomic analysis of oceanic cyanobacterial myoviruses compared with T4 like myoviruses from diverse hosts and environments. *Environmental microbiology*, 12(11), 3035-3056.
- Sullivan, M. B., Krastins, B., Hughes, J. L., Kelly, L., Chase, M., Sarracino, D., & Chisholm, S. W. (2009). The genome and structural proteome of an ocean siphovirus: a new window into the cyanobacterial 'mobilome'. *Environmental microbiology*, 11(11), 2935-2951.

- Suttle, C. A. (2005). Viruses in the sea. *Nature*, 437(7057), 356-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04160</u>
- Suttle, C. A. (2007). Marine viruses--major players in the global ecosystem. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 5(10), 801-812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1750</u>
- Suttle, C. A., & Chan, A. M. (1994). Dynamics and Distribution of Cyanophages and Their Effect on Marine Synechococcus Spp. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60(9), 3167-3174. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Aem.60.9.3167-3174.1994
- Suttle, C. A., Chan, A. M., & Cottrell, M. T. (1990). Infection of Phytoplankton by Viruses and Reduction of Primary Productivity. *Nature*, *347*(6292), 467-469. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1038/347467a0
- Synnott, A. J., Kuang, Y., Kurimoto, M., Yamamichi, K., Iwano, H., & Tanji, Y. (2009). Isolation from sewage influent and characterization of novel Staphylococcus aureus bacteriophages with wide host ranges and potent lytic capabilities. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(13), 4483-4490.
- Tamaki, H., Zhang, R., Angly, F. E., Nakamura, S., Hong, P. Y., Yasunaga, T., Kamagata, Y., & Liu, W. T. (2012). Metagenomic analysis of DNA viruses in a wastewater treatment plant in tropical climate. *Environmental microbiology*, 14(2), 441-452.
- Tan, D., Zhang, Y., Qin, J., Le, S., Gu, J., Chen, L.-k., Guo, X., & Zhu, T. (2020). A frameshift mutation in wcaJ associated with phage resistance in Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Microorganisms*, 8(3), 378.
- Tandoi, V., Rossetti, S., & Wanner, J. (2017). Activated sludge separation problems: theory, control measures, practical experiences. IWA Publishing.
- Taylor, S., Brown, T. L., Tucci, J., Lock, P., Seviour, R. J., & Petrovski, S. (2019). Isolation and characterization of bacteriophage NTR1 infectious for Nocardia transvalensis and other Nocardia species. *Virus Genes*, *55*, 257-265.
- Thomas, J., Soddell, J. A., & Kurtböke, D. (2002). Fighting foam with phages? *Water Science and Technology*, 46(1-2), 511-518.
- Torrella, F., & Morita, R. Y. (1979). Evidence by Electron-Micrographs for a High-Incidence of Bacteriophage Particles in the Waters of Yaquina Bay, Oregon - Ecological and Taxonomical Implications. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 37(4), 774-778. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Aem.37.4.774-778.1979
- Truncaite, L., Šimoliūnas, E., Zajančkauskaite, A., Kaliniene, L., Mankevičiūte, R., Staniulis, J., Klausa, V., & Meškys, R. (2012). Bacteriophage vB_EcoM_FV3: a new member of "rV5-like viruses". Archives of virology, 157, 2431-2435.
- Turner, D., Kropinski, A. M., & Adriaenssens, E. M. (2021). A Roadmap for Genome-Based Phage Taxonomy. Viruses-Basel, 13(3). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 506

- Vahedi, A., Soltan Dallal, M. M., Douraghi, M., Nikkhahi, F., Rajabi, Z., Yousefi, M., & Mousavi, M. (2018). Isolation and identification of specific bacteriophage against enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) and in vitro and in vivo characterization of bacteriophage. *FEMS microbiology letters*, 365(16), fny136.
- Vijayavel, K., Byappanahalli, M. N., Ebdon, J., Taylor, H., Whitman, R., & Kashian, D. (2014). Enterococcus phages as potential tool for identifying sewage inputs in the Great Lakes region. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 40(4), 989-993.
- Vincent, F., & Vardi, A. (2023). Viral infection in the ocean—A journey across scales. *Plos Biology*, 21(1), e3001966.

^{10.3390/}v13030506

- Wagner, M., Loy, A., Nogueira, R., Purkhold, U., Lee, N., & Daims, H. (2002). Microbial community composition and function in wastewater treatment plants. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 81, 665-680.
- Wang, Y., Jiang, X., Liu, L., Li, B., & Zhang, T. (2018). High-resolution temporal and spatial patterns of virome in wastewater treatment systems. *Environmental science & technology*, 52(18), 10337-10346.
- Wangkahad, B., Bosup, S., Mongkolsuk, S., & Sirikanchana, K. (2015). Occurrence of bacteriophages infecting Aeromonas, Enterobacter, and Klebsiella in water and association with contamination sources in Thailand. *Journal of water and health*, 13(2), 613-624.
- Wanner, J. (2014). Activated sludge: bulking and foaming control. CRC Press.
- Waterbury, J. B., & Valois, F. W. (1993). Resistance to Cooccurring Phages Enables Marine Synechococcus Communities to Coexist with Cyanophages Abundant in Seawater. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59(10), 3393-3399. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Aem.59.10.3393-3399.1993
- Watts, G. (2017). Phage therapy: revival of the bygone antimicrobial. *The Lancet*, *390*(10112), 2539-2540.
- Weinbauer, M. G., & Rassoulzadegan, F. (2004). Are viruses driving microbial diversification and diversity? *Environmental microbiology*, 6(1), 1-11.
- Wells, L. E., & Deming, J. W. (2006a). Significance of bacterivory and viral lysis in bottom waters of Franklin Bay, Canadian Arctic, during winter. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 43(3), 209-221.
- Wells, L. E., & Deming, J. W. (2006b). Modelled and measured dynamics of viruses in Arctic winter sea ice brines. *Environmental microbiology*, 8(6), 1115-1121.
- Wen, K., Ortmann, A. C., & Suttle, C. A. (2004). Accurate estimation of viral abundance by epifluorescence microscopy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(7), 3862-3867. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/Aem.70.7.3862-3867.2004</u>
- Whitman, W. B., Coleman, D. C., & Wiebe, W. J. (1998). Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *95*(12), 6578-6583.
- Wichels, A., Biel, S. S., Gelderblom, H. R., Brinkhoff, T., Muyzer, G., & Schütt, C. (1998). Bacteriophage diversity in the North Sea. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 64(11), 4128-4133.
- Winter, C., Herndl, G. J., & Weinbauer, M. G. (2004). Diel cycles in viral infection of bacterioplankton in the North Sea. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, *35*(3), 207-216.
- Wommack, K. E., & Colwell, R. R. (2000). Virioplankton: Viruses in aquatic ecosystems. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 64(1), 69-+. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Mmbr.64.1.69-114.2000
- Wu, Q., & Liu, W.-T. (2009). Determination of virus abundance, diversity and distribution in a municipal wastewater treatment plant. *Water research*, *43*(4), 1101-1109.
- Yu, Z.-C., Chen, X.-L., Shen, Q.-T., Zhao, D.-L., Tang, B.-L., Su, H.-N., Wu, Z.-Y., Qin, Q.-L., Xie, B.-B., & Zhang, X.-Y. (2015). Filamentous phages prevalent in Pseudoalteromonas spp. confer properties advantageous to host survival in Arctic sea ice. *The ISME journal*, 9(4), 871-881.
- Zeidner, G., Bielawski, J. P., Shmoish, M., Scanlan, D. J., Sabehi, G., & Béjà, O. (2005). Potential photosynthesis gene recombination between Prochlorococcus and Synechococcus via viral intermediates. *Environmental microbiology*, 7(10), 1505-1513.

- Zhang, H., Yang, Z., Zhou, Y., Bao, H., Wang, R., Li, T., Pang, M., Sun, L., & Zhou, X. (2018). Application of a phage in decontaminating Vibrio parahaemolyticus in oysters. *International journal of food microbiology*, 275, 24-31.
- Zhang, Y., Liao, Y.-T., Salvador, A., Lavenburg, V. M., & Wu, V. C. (2021). Characterization of two new Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli O103-infecting phages isolated from an organic farm. *Microorganisms*, 9(7), 1527.

10 APPENDIX

Reagents	ID	Distributor
Marine Broth	11753513	BD Difco™, USA
Marine Agar	11718183	BD Difco™, USA
Peptone from casein	107213	Merck, Germany
(Tryptone)		

Table 6: Reagents used in the preparation of FMAP media.

Appendix 1: Composition of Marine Broth (BD DifcoTM 2216, USA)

Peptone 5 g/l, Yeast extract 1 g/l, Ferric Citrate 0.1 g/l, Sodium Chloride 19.45 g/l, Magnesium Chloride 5.9 g/l, Magnesium Sulfate 3.24 g/l, Calcium Chloride 1.8 g/l, Potassium Chloride 0.55 g/l, Sodium Bicarbonate 0.16 g/l, Potassium Bromide 0.08 g/l, Strontium.

Appendix 2: Composition of Marine Agar (BD DifcoTM 2216, USA)

Peptone 5 g/l, Yeast extract 1 g/l, Ferric Citrate 0.1 g/l, Sodium Chloride 19.45 g/l, Magnesium Chloride 8.8 g/l, Sodium Sulfate 3.24 g/l, Calcium Chloride 1.8 g/l, Potassium Chloride 0.55 g/l, Sodium Bicarbonate 0.16 g/l, Potassium Bromide 0.08 g/l, Strontium Chloride 34m g/l, Boric Acid 22m g/l, Sodium Silicate 4m g/l, Sodium Fluoride 2.4m g/l, Ammonium Nitrate 1.6m g/l, Disodium Phosphate 8m g/l, Agar 15 g/l.

Appendix 3: Preparation of liquid FMAP medium

Liquid FMAP medium is prepared with 15 g/l of marine broth (Difco2216), 5 g/l of peptone from caseine (tryptone). Then 300 ml of seawater is added and completed to 1 litre with MiliQ water. The mixture is divided into 200 ml aliquots and autoclaved at 121°C for 120 minutes.

Appendix 4: Preparation of FMAP medium plates.

Liquid FMAP medium is prepared with 15 g/l marine broth (Difco2216), 5 g/l of peptone from caseine (tryptone), 15 g/l of agar. Then 300 ml of seawater is added and completed to 1

litre with MiliQ water. The mixture is autoclaved at 121°C for 120 minutes. After sterilization Plates are prepared by adding 20 ml of media.

Appendix 5: Preparation of soft FMAP medium

Soft FMAP medium is prepared with 15 g/l marine broth (Difco2216), 5 g/l of peptone from caseine (tryptone), 0.7% (7 g/l) of agar. Then 300 ml of seawater is added and completed to 1 liter with MiliQ water. The mixture is divided into 200 ml aliquots and autoclaved at 121°C for 120 minutes.

Appendix 6: Preparation of 5x concentrated FMAP medium

The 5x concentrated media is made with 15 g/l marine broth (Difco2216), 5 g/l of peptone from caseine (tryptone), 60 ml of seawater added, and completed to 200 ml with MiliQ water followed by autoclaving at 121°C for 120 minutes.

	Culture	Sample	Bacterial Species	Results from screening the	Results from
	No	Used	enrichment cultures		titration
	1	53	Flavobacterium	Positive	Positive
	2	54	Flavobacterium	Positive	Positive
	3	55	Flavobacterium	Positive	Positive
	4	56	Flavobacterium	Positive	Positive
	5	57	Flavobacterium	Positive	Positive
	6	58	Flavobacterium	Positive	Positive
	7	53	Vibrio	Positive	Positive
	8	54	Vibrio	Positive	Positive
	9	55	Vibrio	Negative	
	10	56	Vibrio	Negative	
	11	57	Vibrio	Negative	
	12	58	Vibrio	Negative	
	13	53	Vibrio	Positive	Positive
	14	54	Vibrio	Positive	Positive
	15	55	Vibrio	Positive	Positive
	16	56	Vibrio	Positive	Positive
	17	57	Vibrio	Positive	Positive
	18	58	Vibrio	Positive	Positive
	19	53	Shewanella	Negative	
	20	54	Shewanella	Negative	
	21	55	Shewanella	Negative	
	22	56	Shewanella	Negative	
	23	57	Shewanella	Negative	
	24	58	Shewanella	Negative	
	25	53	Maribacter	Positive	
	26	54	Maribacter	Positive	
	27	55	Maribacter	Positive	
	28	56	Maribacter	Positive	
	29	57	Maribacter	Positive	
-	30	58	Maribacter	Positive	

Appendix 7: Summary of results from the marine sample analysis